Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: July 17, 2024 ACCEPTED: September 24, 2024 PUBLISHED: November 6, 2024

# Electroweak corrections to Higgs boson pair production: the top-Yukawa and self-coupling contributions

G. Heinrich (a, b, c), Jones (a, b, c), M. Kerner (a, c), T.W. Stone (a, b, c) and A. Vestner (a, c)

<sup>a</sup>Institute for Theoretical Physics, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Wolfgang-Gaede-Str. 1, 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany
<sup>b</sup>Institute for Particle Physics Phenomenology, Durham University, South Road, Durham DH1 3LE, U.K.
E-mail: gudrun.heinrich@kit.edu, stephen.jones@durham.ac.uk, matthias.kerner@kit.edu, thomas.w.stone@durham.ac.uk, augustin.vestner@kit.edu

ABSTRACT: We present results for the Yukawa-enhanced and Higgs self-coupling type electroweak corrections to di-Higgs production in gluon fusion. The calculation of the corresponding four-scale, two-loop amplitude is carried out retaining the exact symbolic dependence on all masses and scales during the reduction to master integrals. The resulting integrals are then evaluated at high precision using both the series expansion of the differential equations and sector decomposition. Differential cross sections for the di-Higgs invariant mass and the transverse momentum of a Higgs boson are shown, where we find that the corrections are most pronounced at low invariant mass and transverse momentum.

KEYWORDS: Higher-Order Perturbative Calculations, Higgs Production, Higher Order Electroweak Calculations, Higgs Properties

ARXIV EPRINT: 2407.04653



## Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Calculation	3
	2.1 Lagrangian & input-parameter scheme	3
	2.2 Amplitude structure	5
	2.3 Diagram & amplitude generation	7
	2.4 Reduction	8
	2.5 Evaluation of the master integrals	10
	2.6 Electroweak renormalisation	12
3	Results	15
4	Conclusions	19
$\mathbf{A}$	Details of renormalisation	20
	A.1 Vacuum expectation value counterterm	22
	A.2 Feynman rules & counterterm expressions	24
	A.3 Comparison of counterterms and renormalization procedures	25
в	Analytic continuation of the master integrals	26
С	Bare form factors	27

# 1 Introduction

Among the main goals of the current and future runs of the CERN Large Hadron Collider (LHC) is tightening the constraints on the trilinear Higgs boson self-coupling,  $\lambda_{HHH}$ . Measurements of the Higgs boson pair cross section at ATLAS currently set an upper limit of  $\mu_{HH} < 2.4$  at 95% confidence level, giving a bound on the self-coupling modifier,  $\kappa_{\lambda} = \lambda_{HHH} / \lambda_{HHH}^{SM}$ , of  $-1.4 < \kappa_{\lambda} < 6.1 \ [1, 2] \ (-0.4 < \kappa_{\lambda} < 6.3$  when combining both single and double Higgs production), while measurements at CMS place a limit of  $\mu_{HH} < 3.4$ , giving  $-1.24 < \kappa_{\lambda} < 6.49$  [3]  $(-1.2 < \kappa_{\lambda} < 7.5$  when combining both single and double Higgs production [4]). The high-luminosity LHC run is expected to shrink this constraint to  $0.1 < \kappa_{\lambda} < 2.3$  [5], thereby ruling out the scenario of  $\kappa_{\lambda} = 0$  where the Higgs boson does not couple to itself via a cubic coupling. Higgs boson pair production in gluon fusion is the prime process to consider in order to constrain the trilinear coupling because  $\lambda_{HHH}$  already enters at the leading order (LO) and the gluon fusion production channel is dominant at the LHC. Most physics models beyond the Standard Model (SM) predict modified Higgs boson self-couplings, particularly those where electroweak symmetry breaking occurred through a first-order phase transition, which is a prerequisite for generating the observed baryon asymmetry. Therefore. it is crucial to have precise predictions for this process within the SM, such that potential discrepancies between data and theory can be clearly identified as signposts of new physics.

The LO cross section for the process  $gg \to HH$  has been calculated in refs. [6, 7], NLO QCD corrections including the full top-quark mass dependence are also available [8-12], increasing the total cross section by about 60%. The real corrections, entering the NLO QCD cross section, have recently been obtained in a compact analytic form [13]. NLO matching to parton showers has been performed in [14-17], later also including anomalous couplings within an Effective Field Theory (EFT) framework [18–20]. QCD corrections beyond NLO have been calculated in the heavy-top-limit [21-23], or in a combination of large- $m_t$  and high-energy expansions [24]. Partial three-loop results also have been obtained recently [25, 26]. The full NLO QCD corrections have been included in calculations where even higher orders have been evaluated, e.g. including the top mass dependence in the real corrections at NNLO [27], or N<sup>3</sup>LO corrections [28, 29] and N<sup>3</sup>LO+N<sup>3</sup>LL corrections [30] in the heavy-top-limit. The N<sup>3</sup>LO results have a residual scale uncertainty of about 3%, therefore other uncertainties, such as missing electroweak (EW) corrections, become an important part in the uncertainty budget. Currently, the top-mass renormalisation scheme uncertainties are the largest uncertainties for this process [17, 31], they are estimated to be of the order of 20%. However, the electroweak corrections also introduce a renormalisation scheme dependence, and its interplay with the scheme dependence of the QCD corrections is currently unknown. Furthermore, it is well-known that EW corrections can significantly affect the shape of kinematic distributions. For example, the EW corrections to single Higgs boson production are of the order of +5% for  $m_H = 125$  GeV, dominated by the light fermion contributions, but, for larger values of  $m_H$ , the corrections become negative and the light quark contribution ceases to dominate the correction [32-34]. First partial NLO EW corrections to Higgs boson pair production have been calculated in refs. [35-37], the full NLO EW corrections in the large top-quark mass expansion up to  $1/m_t^8$  have been calculated in ref. [38]. The possibility to constrain the quartic Higgs boson coupling indirectly through EW corrections to Higgs boson pair production has been explored in refs. [35, 39, 40]. Total and differential cross sections including the full NLO EW corrections have been presented in ref. [41], finding a decrease by -4% of the total cross section after inclusion of the NLO EW corrections.

As the first order EW corrections to double Higgs production factorise from the NLO QCD corrections to this process, mixed QCD-EW corrections would only play a role at even higher orders. The latter are relevant for single Higgs production, where the experimental uncertainties are very small; contributions to these mixed corrections have been calculated in refs. [42–49].

In this paper, we calculate the electroweak corrections to the process  $gg \to HH$  in the scalar sector, i.e. the corrections which are Yukawa-enhanced or are of Higgs self-coupling type (with the quartic coupling  $\lambda_{HHHH}$  also now entering at NLO), while corrections due to the exchange of virtual electroweak gauge bosons are not included. The calculation involves four-point, two-loop integrals with up to two mass scales  $(m_t, m_H)$  and two independent Mandelstam variables (s, t), which we retain fully symbolically in our amplitude. The master integrals are evaluated in two ways: with the method of sector decomposition using PYSECDEC [50–53] and by solving differential equations via series expansions using DIFFEXP [54, 55].

The outline of this article is as follows: in section 2, we give details of the calculation, describing the projection onto form factors, the reduction to master integrals and their

evaluation; the UV renormalisation of the amplitude is also described in detail. In section 3 we provide values for the bare and renormalised amplitude at a selected phase-space point and present our results for the Higgs boson pair invariant mass and Higgs boson transverse momentum distributions in addition to the impact of these corrections on the total cross section. Our conclusions are presented in section 4.

## 2 Calculation

In this section, we describe the details of our calculation of the NLO electroweak corrections to Higgs boson pair production including only the top-Yukawa and Higgs boson self-coupling contributions. We start by specifying the parts of the SM Lagrangian relevant for computing these corrections in section 2.1, followed by a detailed description of the amplitude structure for  $gg \rightarrow HH$  in section 2.2. The remaining sections give details of our computational setup, starting from diagram generation in section 2.3, continuing with the reduction to master integrals in section 2.4, and closing with the master integral evaluation in section 2.5. In section 2.6, we describe the renormalisation of our amplitudes. For a review of the standard methods for the computation and renormalisation of one-loop electroweak corrections in the Standard Model see refs. [56, 57].

#### 2.1 Lagrangian & input-parameter scheme

To precisely define the corrections we wish to compute — i.e. only those induced by the Yukawa coupling and Higgs self-couplings — and to derive their renormalisation, we do not start from the general SM Lagrangian. Instead, we start from a more accessible subset corresponding to a Yukawa model with only one up-type fermion (the top quark) and one scalar field (the Higgs boson). Indeed, employing a series of simplifications, we can see it truly is a subset of the SM: firstly, we remove the Yang-Mills part for the electroweak gauge bosons so that they only appear in the covariant derivative. Additionally, all leptons, light quarks and the bottom quark are dropped since their coupling to the Higgs field is negligibly small compared to that of the top quark. Prior to electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB), this leads to the bare Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = -\frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{0,\mu\nu} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{\mu\nu} + (D_{\mu} \Phi_{0})^{\dagger} (D^{\mu} \Phi_{0}) + \mu_{0}^{2} \Phi_{0}^{\dagger} \Phi_{0} + \frac{\lambda_{0}}{4} (\Phi_{0}^{\dagger} \Phi_{0})^{2} + i \bar{Q}_{L,0} \not{D} Q_{L,0} + i \bar{t}_{R,0} \not{D} t_{R,0} - (y_{t,0} \bar{Q}_{L,0} \Phi_{0}^{c} t_{R,0} + \text{h.c.}),$$
(2.1)

with

$$Q_{L,0} = \begin{pmatrix} t_{L,0} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.2}$$

and the gluon field strength tensor  $\mathcal{G}_0^{\mu\nu}$ . Taking the gaugeless limit for the EW sector corresponds to the limit  $(g, g') \to (0, 0)$ , which removes the electroweak gauge bosons (as well as their associated ghost fields) entirely, such that the covariant derivatives have the form

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_{s,0}G^a_{0,\mu}t^a \tag{2.3}$$

where  $t^a$  are the generators of SU(3)<sub>colour</sub> and  $G^a_{0,\mu}$  are the gluon fields. Through EWSB the Higgs field  $\Phi_0$  acquires a vacuum expectation value (vev)  $v_0$ . Expanding the Higgs field around its vev and using unitary gauge to decouple the Goldstone bosons we obtain the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = -\frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{0,\mu\nu}\mathcal{G}_{0}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}H_{0})^{\dagger}(\partial^{\mu}H_{0}) + \frac{\mu_{0}^{2}}{2}(v_{0} + H_{0})^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{16}(v_{0} + H_{0})^{4} + i\bar{t}_{0}\not{D}t_{0} - y_{t,0}\frac{v_{0} + H_{0}}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{t}_{0}t_{0} + \text{constant} = -\frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{0,\mu\nu}\mathcal{G}_{0}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}H_{0})^{\dagger}(\partial^{\mu}H_{0}) - \frac{m_{H,0}^{2}}{2}H_{0}^{2} - \frac{m_{H,0}^{2}}{2v_{0}}H_{0}^{3} - \frac{m_{H,0}^{2}}{8v_{0}^{2}}H_{0}^{4} + i\bar{t}_{0}\not{D}t_{0} - m_{t,0}\bar{t}_{0}t_{0} - \frac{m_{t,0}}{v_{0}}H_{0}\bar{t}_{0}t_{0} + \text{constant}$$
(2.4)

with the identifications,

$$m_{H,0}^2 = 2\mu_0^2, \ m_{t,0} = \frac{y_{t,0}v_0}{\sqrt{2}} \text{ and } v_0^2 = -\frac{2m_{H,0}^2}{\lambda_0}.$$
 (2.5)

The constant term in the Lagrangian is neglected from now on as it does not contribute to observables. For later convenience, we also introduce the labels  $g_{t,0}, g_{3,0}, g_{4,0}$  (and  $g_t, g_3, g_4$ ) for the bare (and renormalised) top-Yukawa  $(H\bar{t}t)$  coupling, trilinear Higgs  $(H^3)$  self-coupling and quartic Higgs  $(H^4)$  self-coupling, respectively. In the SM and in our Yukawa model, they are related to the top-quark mass, Higgs boson mass and vev via

$$g_{t,0} \equiv \frac{m_{t,0}}{v_0}, \qquad g_{3,0} \equiv \frac{3m_{H,0}^2}{v_0}, \qquad g_{4,0} \equiv \frac{3m_{H,0}^2}{v_0^2}.$$
 (2.6)

We present the set of Feynman rules for this Lagrangian, relevant to our calculation, in appendix A.2. For the Yang-Mills part they are equivalent to the standard QCD rules and can be taken from the literature (e.g. ref. [58] with  $\eta_G = 1$ ,  $\eta_s = -1$ ). Details of the derivation of the electroweak counterterms and renormalisation are presented in appendix A.

To evaluate our predictions, we must also specify a consistent electroweak input-parameter scheme. We take the top-quark mass and Higgs boson mass in the on-shell (OS) scheme as inputs to our calculation. The renormalised top-quark Yukawa coupling,  $g_t$ , depends on the top-quark mass and the vev, it is fixed via the relation given in eq. (2.6) after renormalising the top-quark mass and the vev. Similarly, the renormalised trilinear,  $g_3$ , and quartic,  $g_4$ , Higgs boson self-couplings depend on the Higgs mass and the vev and are fixed via eq. (2.6)after renormalising the Higgs mass and the vev. In the gaugeless limit, we can consider the Z and W bosons (which do not appear directly in our computation) to be massless particles; therefore, it is natural to pick  $M_Z = 0$  and  $M_W = 0$  as input parameters. Finally, we must specify the value of the electromagnetic coupling constant. The most natural choice in our parameterisation would be to specify the value of the vev, v, after renormalisation. However, to simplify the connection to more commonly used input schemes, we instead take  $G_F$  as an input parameter and derive from it the value of the vev in the  $G_{\mu}$  (a.k.a.  $\alpha_{\mu}$ ) scheme. That is to say, we require that the relation  $v = (\sqrt{2}G_F)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  holds to all orders in perturbation theory. We circumvent the complication that the muon decay vertex employed for the matching in the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme is not present in our model by relying on external calculations from e.g. ref. [59] to fix the finite parts of the vev renormalisation; for further details, see section 2.6 and appendix A.1. In summary, the input-parameter scheme of our calculation is therefore  $\{M_Z = 0, M_W = 0, G_F\} + \{m_t, m_H\},$  where all masses are specified in the on-shell scheme.

## 2.2 Amplitude structure

We compute the amplitude for the process  $g^a_\mu(p_1)g^b_\nu(p_2) \to H(-p_3)H(-p_4)$ , with all momenta defined as incoming. The amplitude may be parametrised in terms of the usual Mandelstam invariants,

$$s = (p_1 + p_2)^2,$$
  $t = (p_1 + p_3)^2,$   $u = (p_2 + p_3)^2,$  (2.7)

with  $p_1^2 = p_2^2 = 0$  and  $p_3^2 = p_4^2 = m_H^2$ . Due to momentum conservation,  $p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + p_4 = 0$ , the invariants obey the additional relation  $s + t + u = 2m_H^2$ .

As described in section 2.1, we will consider only the subset of electroweak corrections appearing in the SM, involving the top-quark Yukawa coupling and the Higgs boson trilinear and quartic couplings. The electroweak W and Z gauge bosons do not appear in our calculation, therefore, no axial-vector couplings are present in the amplitude. Using QCD gauge invariance, the amplitude may be written in terms of only two independent form factors,

$$\mathcal{M}_{ab} = \varepsilon_{1,\mu} \varepsilon_{2,\nu} M_{ab}^{\mu\nu} = \varepsilon_{1,\mu} \varepsilon_{2,\nu} \delta_{ab} \left( F_1 T_1^{\mu\nu} + F_2 T_2^{\mu\nu} \right), \qquad (2.8)$$

where  $\varepsilon_{1,\mu}, \varepsilon_{2,\nu}$  are the gluon polarisation vectors, a, b are colour indices in the adjoint representation and  $F_1, F_2$  are scalar form factors. The tensor structures can be chosen to be

$$T_1^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{p_2^{\mu} p_1^{\nu}}{p_1 \cdot p_2},\tag{2.9}$$

$$T_2^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{p_T^2(p_1 \cdot p_2)} \left[ m_H^2 p_2^{\mu} p_1^{\nu} - 2(p_1 \cdot p_3) p_2^{\mu} p_3^{\nu} - 2(p_2 \cdot p_3) p_3^{\mu} p_1^{\nu} + 2(p_1 \cdot p_2) p_3^{\mu} p_3^{\nu} \right],$$
(2.10)

where  $p_T^2 = (ut - m_H^4)/s$  and  $T_1 \cdot T_1 = T_2 \cdot T_2 = D - 2$ ,  $T_1 \cdot T_2 = D - 4$ , where  $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$  is the number of space-time dimensions, such that the individual form factors correspond to helicity amplitudes:  $\mathcal{M}^{++} = \mathcal{M}^{--} = -F_1$  and  $\mathcal{M}^{+-} = \mathcal{M}^{-+} = -F_2$ . The form factors are individually gauge invariant and can be separately renormalised, see section 2.6, meaning that the interference contribution between the renormalised form factors vanishes in the limit  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

The scalar form factors,  $F_i$ , can be extracted from the amplitude,  $M_{ab}^{\mu\nu}$ , using projectors defined to obey the relations,

$$\sum_{\text{pol}} P_{i,ab}^{\mu\nu} \varepsilon_{1,\mu}^* \varepsilon_{2,\nu}^* \varepsilon_{1,\mu'} \varepsilon_{2,\nu'} \delta^{aa'} \delta^{bb'} M_{a'b'}^{\mu'\nu'} = P_{i,ab}^{\mu\nu} M_{\mu\nu}^{ab} = F_i$$
(2.11)

with  $\sum_{\text{pol}} \varepsilon_{1,\mu}^* \varepsilon_{1,\mu'} = -g_{\mu\mu'}$ . The projectors are given explicitly by,

$$P_{1,ab}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{\delta_{ab}}{N_c^2 - 1} \frac{1}{4(D-3)} \left[ (D-2)T_1^{\mu\nu} + (4-D)T_2^{\mu\nu} \right], \tag{2.12}$$

$$P_{2,ab}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{\delta_{ab}}{N_c^2 - 1} \frac{1}{4(D-3)} \left[ (4-D)T_1^{\mu\nu} + (D-2)T_2^{\mu\nu} \right], \qquad (2.13)$$

where the  $N_c^2 - 1$  (with  $N_c = 3$ ) appearing in the denominator cancels the colour factor appearing from the  $\delta_{ab}$  in the projector contracting with the  $\delta_{ab}$  in the decomposed amplitude.

Each of the bare form factors can be expanded in terms of the bare electroweak couplings as follows,

$$F_i = F_i^{(0)} + F_i^{(1)}, (2.14)$$

$$F_i^{(0)} = g_{s,0}^2 \Big( g_{3,0} \, g_{t,0} \, F_{i,g_3g_t}^{(0)} + g_{t,0}^2 \, F_{i,g_t^2}^{(0)} \Big), \tag{2.15}$$

$$F_{i}^{(1)} = g_{s,0}^{2} \Big( g_{3,0} g_{4,0} g_{t,0} F_{i,g_{3}g_{4}g_{t}}^{(1)} + g_{3,0}^{3} g_{t,0} F_{i,g_{3}^{3}g_{t}}^{(1)} + g_{4,0} g_{t,0}^{2} F_{i,g_{4}g_{t}^{2}}^{(1)} + g_{3,0}^{2} g_{t,0}^{2} F_{i,g_{3}^{2}g_{t}^{2}}^{(1)} + g_{3,0} g_{t,0}^{3} F_{i,g_{3}g_{t}^{3}}^{(1)} + g_{t,0}^{4} F_{i,g_{t}^{4}}^{(1)} \Big),$$
(2.16)

where  $g_s = \sqrt{4\pi\alpha_s}$  is the strong coupling. The bare form factors correspond to the coefficients of the bare couplings, we suppress the 0 subscript of the bare couplings in the labels of the form factors for brevity. The form factors  $F_{i,j}^{(0)}$  correspond to the leading-order one-loop triangle and box contributions, while  $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$  correspond to the 6 possible coupling structure combinations appearing at two loops. We expand our bare form factors in the electroweak coupling,  $\alpha_0 \propto 1/v_0^2$ , such that the products of couplings entering at LO scale as  $1/v_0^2$  while the products of couplings entering at NLO scale as  $1/v_0^4$ .

The bare form factors may be further decomposed into sets of one-particle-irreducible (1PI) and one-particle-reducible (1PR) diagrams. At leading order, the form factors, split according to combinations of the EW couplings  $(g_{t,0}, g_{3,0}, g_{4,0})$ , are either entirely 1PI or 1PR,

$$F_{i,g_3g_t}^{(0)} = F_{i,g_3g_t}^{(0),1\text{PR}}, \qquad F_{i,g_t^2}^{(0)} = F_{i,g_t^2}^{(0),1\text{PI}}.$$
(2.17)

Starting from NLO, the form factors contain a mixture of 1PI and 1PR contributions,

$$F_{i,g_3^3g_t}^{(1)} = F_{i,g_3^3g_t}^{(1),1\text{PR}}, \qquad F_{i,g_3g_4g_t}^{(1)} = F_{i,g_3g_4g_t}^{(1),1\text{PR}}, \qquad (2.18)$$

$$F_{i,g_3^2g_t^2}^{(1)} = F_{i,g_3^2g_t^2}^{(1),1\text{PI}} + F_{i,g_3^2g_t^2}^{(1),1\text{PR}}, \qquad F_{i,g_4g_t^2}^{(1)} = F_{i,g_4g_t^2}^{(1),1\text{PI}} + F_{i,g_4g_t^2}^{(1),1\text{PR}}, \tag{2.19}$$

$$F_{i,g_3g_t^3}^{(1)} = F_{i,g_3g_t^3}^{(1),1\text{PI}} + F_{i,g_3g_t^3}^{(1),1\text{PR}}, \qquad F_{i,g_t^4}^{(1)} = F_{i,g_t^4}^{(1),1\text{PI}} + F_{i,g_t^4}^{(1),1\text{PR}}.$$
(2.20)

We compute each of the bare form factors  $F_{i,j}^{(0)}$  and  $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$  separately and obtain results for both the 1PI and 1PR contributions separately.

At leading order, the partonic cross section can be written as

$$\hat{\sigma}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{16\pi s^2} \int_{t_-}^{t_+} \mathrm{d}t \left| \overline{\mathcal{M}}^{(0)} \right|^2 = \frac{1}{512\pi s^2} \int_{t_-}^{t_+} \mathrm{d}t \left( \left| F_1^{(0)} \right|^2 + \left| F_2^{(0)} \right|^2 \right)$$
(2.21)

where

$$t_{\pm} = m_H^2 - \frac{s}{2} \left[ 1 \mp \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m_H^2}{s}} \right]$$
(2.22)

are the boundaries in t of the physical region for a given  $s \ge 4m_H^2$ . The averaged matrix element squared  $\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}}^{(0)}\right|^2$  contains a symmetry factor for the two final state Higgs bosons, spin and colour averaging for the incoming gluons, a factor of D-2 from the square of the tensor structures (D-4 from the interference between the tensor structures does not contribute as explained above) and another factor of  $N_c^2 - 1$  from the sum over the adjoint colour indices of  $\delta_{ab}$  in eq. (2.8). To obtain the total cross section, the partonic cross section must be convoluted with the parton distribution functions (PDFs) in the usual way.

At NLO in the electroweak expansion, the bare form factors can have UV divergences which give rise to poles of order  $1/\epsilon$  which are treated by renormalising the masses and fields of the Higgs boson and top quark along with the vacuum expectation value. We perform the UV renormalisation by computing explicit counterterm amplitudes, separated on couplings

Type	$g_3g_4g_t$	$g_3^3 g_t$	$g_4 g_t^2$	$g_3^2 g_t^2$	$g_3 g_t^3$	$g_t^4$
1PI	0	0	3	6	24	60
$1\mathrm{PR}$	12	6	1	6	24	26
Total	12	6	4	12	48	86

**Table 1.** Number of Feynman diagrams (one-particle-irreducible, one-particle-reducible and total), excluding tadpole diagrams, which contribute to each of the bare coupling structures at NLO.



Figure 1. Example diagrams contributing to each of the 6 coupling structures on which we separate the bare two-loop amplitude.

structures, as described in section 2.6. In this way, we retain the complete dependence of our amplitudes on the individual couplings which facilitates changing the electroweak input scheme or supplementing our calculation with higher-dimensional effective field theory operators. The subset of corrections that we consider here consists of corrections involving the emission of additional massive particles from massive particle lines and is therefore free of IR singularities.

## 2.3 Diagram & amplitude generation

We generate Feynman diagrams using QGRAF [60] and find a total of 168 diagrams, after excluding tadpole diagrams and diagrams present in the full Standard Model but not in our reduced Yukawa Model. We generate the amplitude using two independent tool chains based on either a) ALIBRARY [61], a MATHEMATICA and FORM [62] package for computing multi-loop amplitudes, or b) REDUZE 2 [63]. The resulting amplitudes agree up to sector relations and symmetries before applying Integration-By-Parts identities.

The number of diagrams contributing to each of the coupling structures entering our subset of NLO EW corrections are given in table 1, and example Feynman diagrams for each

of these structures are shown in figure 1. The coupling structures  $g_3g_4g_t$  and  $g_3^3g_t$  have only a single Yukawa coupling and therefore consist of diagrams that contain loop corrections to the Higgs propagator or trilinear vertex, they are therefore entirely 1PR (see figures 1(a) and 1(b)). The 1PR contribution to the  $g_4g_t^2$  coupling structure consists of a diagram containing a triple gluon vertex with a single gluon connected to the fermion loop and thus has a vanishing colour factor. The  $g_4g_t^2$  coupling structure, therefore, receives only a 1PI contribution, see figure 1(c). The remaining coupling structures receive contributions from both 1PI and 1PR diagrams.

The complete EW corrections, obtained using the large- $m_t$  limit in ref. [38] and fully using AMFLOW in ref. [41], contain within them all coupling structures presented in this work, as well as additional contributions from diagrams containing W and Z bosons and their ghosts, as well as the Goldstone bosons. The coupling structures  $g_3g_4g_t$  and  $g_3^3g_t$  consist of factorisable one-loop contributions and are comparatively straightforward to compute, they have appeared previously in the literature e.g. refs. [35, 39, 40]. The coupling structure  $g_4g_t^2$  contains only three-point integrals, the relevant integrals are known analytically in a large top mass expansion [33, 64], the complete structure was computed numerically in ref. [35]. The  $g_3^2g_t^2$  coupling structure was also computed numerically in ref. [35]. To the best of our knowledge, the  $g_3g_t^3$  contribution has not been computed separately so far. The 1PI contribution to  $g_t^4$  was computed in the high-energy limit in ref. [37].

As a cross-check of one of the more challenging pieces of our calculation, we compare the 1PI piece of our bare  $g_t^4$  structure to ref. [37]<sup>1</sup> and find good agreement for points at sufficiently high energy  $s \gtrsim 4m_t^2$ , with points at  $s \gtrsim 9m_t^2$  differing by less than 2% and less than 1% for  $s \gtrsim 16m_t^2$ . The other parts of our calculation are performed systematically using an identical setup to this structure and so are partially checked by this comparison. Further checks on our final result are described in section 3.

## 2.4 Reduction

The loop integrals are written as a list of exponents  $\nu_j$  for the denominators  $P_j$  of the corresponding integral family f as defined in table 2. In our calculation each loop integral is defined as

$$\mathcal{I}_{\vec{\nu}}^{f}(s,t) = \left(\mu^{4-D}\right)^{L} \int \prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{D}\ell_{i}}{i\pi^{D/2}} \prod_{j=1}^{N} \frac{1}{P_{j}^{\nu_{j}}},\tag{2.23}$$

in a general dimension D, where L is the number of loops and N is the number of propagators. When reporting bare form factors, our integrals are multiplied by an additional factor of  $C_D = \left(i\pi^{D/2}/(2\pi)^D\right)$  per loop, which is required to recover the physical normalisation as dictated by the Feynman rules.

After identifying momentum mapping symmetries with FEYNSON [65], we use a total of 7 integral families (along with permutations of the external legs for 5 of the families) to encode the scalar integrals appearing in all form factors. The two-loop families used in this calculation are shown in table 2.

To perform the Integration-By-Parts (IBP) reduction [66], we begin by identifying a suitable basis of master integrals. Retaining all masses, we find that at two-loop a total of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We thank the authors of ref. [37] for performing a detailed comparison of our results.

F1	F2	F3	F4	
$l_1^2 - m_t^2$	$l_{1}^{2} - m_{t}^{2}$	$l_1^2 - m_H^2$	$l_{1}^{2} - m_{t}^{2}$	
$l_{2}^{2} - m_{t}^{2}$	$l_{2}^{2} - m_{t}^{2}$	$(l_1 - l_2)^2 - m_t^2$	$l_2^2 - m_H^2$	
$(l_1 - l_2)^2 - m_H^2$	$(l_1 - l_2)^2 - m_H^2$	$(l_1 + p_1)^2 - m_H^2$	$(l_1 - l_2)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_1 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_2 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 - p_2)^2 - m_H^2$	$(l_2 + p_1)^2 - m_H^2$	
$(l_1 - p_2)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 - p_2)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 - p_2)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_2 - p_2)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_2$	$(l_2 - p_2)^2 - m_H^2$	
$(l_1 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_1 + p_1 + p_3)^2 - m$	${}^{2}_{H}  (l_1 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_2 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 + p_1 - p_2)^2 - m$	${}^{2}_{H}  (l_2 - p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_H^2$	
F5		F6	F7	
$l_1^2 - m$	$l_{H}^{2} l_{1}^{2}$ -	$-m_{H}^{2}$	$l_1^2 - m_t^2$	
$\bar{l_2^2} - m$	$l_2^2$ $l_2^2$ ·	$-m_t^2$	$l_2^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_1 - l_2)^2$	$-m_t^2$ $(l_1 - l_2)$	$(l_2)^2 - m_t^2$	$(1-l_2)^2 - m_H^2$	
$(l_1 + p_1)^2$	$-m_H^2$ $(l_1 - p_3)$	$(l_3)^2 - m_H^2$	$(l_1 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_2 + p_1)^2$	$-m_t^2$ $(l_2 - p_3)$	$(l_3)^2 - m_H^2$ (l_2)	$(p_2 + p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_1 - p_3)^2$	$-m_H^2$ $(l_2 + p)$	$(l_2)^2 - m_t^2$ (l)	$(1-p_2)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_2 - p_3)^2$	$-m_t^{\overline{2}}$ $(l_1 + p_1 +$	$(l_2 - p_2)^2 - m_H^2$ (l_2)	$(p_2 - p_2)^2 - m_t^2$	
$(l_1 - p_2 - p_3)$	$(l_1 - l_2 + m_H^2)^2 - m_H^2$	$(l_1 - p_1)^2 - m_t^2$ $(l_1 - p_1)^2 - m_t^2$	$(l_2 + p_3)^2 - m_H^2$	
$(l_2 - p_2 - p_3)$	$)^2 - m_t^2 = (l_1 - l_2 - m_t)^2$	$(l_2 - n_2)^2 - m_H^2$ (l_2 -	$(p_2 - p_3)^2 - m_4^2$	

Table 2. Integral families used in the reduction (up to permutations of the external legs).

494 master integrals are required to represent both the NLO amplitude and a closed system of differential equations. We observe that up to 11 master integrals are required within a single sector, namely, a 6-propagator non-planar sector belonging to family F7 (sector 413 using the ID notation of REDUZE 2).

Initially, we choose a finite basis of integrals [67] with *D*-factorising denominiators [68, 69], preferring dots over numerators. Using this basis, the time to numerically evaluate all form factors to a precision of  $10^{-3}$  using PYSECDEC is  $\mathcal{O}(100h)$  on a single GPU. The evaluation time can be decreased by 2–3 orders of magnitude by further optimising the basis choice. Focusing on the integrals dominating the run time, specifically, the top-level sectors in all integral families and especially those in the most complicated non-planar families (F6 and F7), we searched for a basis in which the masters in the top level (t = 7) sectors and, where possible, next-to-top level (t = 6) sectors had coefficients free of poles in the dimensional regulator,  $\epsilon$ . To obtain a basis with the required properties we found it necessary to employ both dots and dimensional recurrence relations [70–72].

During the basis search, we found it of practical use to reduce individual sectors neglecting subsectors, thereby avoiding the reconstruction of the vastly more complicated subsector master coefficients, for a large number of different possible basis choices. With the polefree coefficient criterion satisfied, we only need to expand the top-level master integrals to leading order in the regulator, vastly reducing the time required to evaluate them numerically. Furthermore, since we will use the same basis for the evaluation with PYSECDEC and for the differential equations, we must also avoid poles of the regulator in the "diagonal" elements of the differential equation system (as these cannot be removed by similarity transformations of the partial derivative matrices  $\mathbf{A}_{x_i}$  later).

Our final basis choice consists of integrals with up to three dots expressed in D in the set  $\{2 - 2\epsilon, 4 - 2\epsilon, 6 - 2\epsilon, 8 - 2\epsilon\}$ . We could eliminate  $1/\epsilon$  poles in the amplitude coefficients for all t = 7 master integrals and many of the t = 6 integrals while retaining finiteness and D-factorising coefficients for the new basis of integrals.<sup>2</sup> Crucially, to obtain a basis with these properties, we found it necessary to select integrals in different numbers of dimensions within a single sector.

Having settled on an improved basis, we generate the dimensional recurrence relations and differential equations of the master integrals using REDUZE 2, firstly with all in  $D_0 = 4 - 2\epsilon$ . We generate IBP equations with KIRA [73, 74] covering all integrals appearing in the amplitude, differential equations and dimensional recurrence relations, again in  $D_0$ . Next, we replicate these equations with the relevant shifts of  $D_0$  (that is to say,  $\pm 2n$ ) to cover the entire system, such that we have enough information to express integrals in any of our equations in terms of masters in any of the relevant dimensions. We can load this entire set of equations along with the unreduced amplitude split on coupling structures into RATRACER [75] and, defining our choice of masters, we can solve this system of equations using KIRA, RATRACER, and FIREFLY [76, 77] to express our amplitude and differential equations in terms of our preferred basis of integrals.

We stress that the reduction is obtained fully symbolically, retaining all masses and invariants ( $m_t$  is set to 1 in our reduction, but can be restored by dimensional analysis). Using the same setup, we also obtain a reduction with  $m_H^2/m_t^2 = 12/23$ . We find the total size of the rational coefficients in the reduced amplitude to be 99Gb for the fully symbolic reduction and 8.5Gb with the numeric mass ratio inserted, when separated on coupling structures as in eq. (2.16).

As a cross-check of the reduction and our amplitude, we independently perform a reduction to a different set of masters with the Higgs boson mass set to a numerical constant and confirm the value of our amplitude after the numerical evaluation of the master integrals. We further checked the integral reduction by obtaining reductions for individual phase-space points, by substituting all kinematic invariants and masses with randomly selected rational values.

#### 2.5 Evaluation of the master integrals

To evaluate the master integrals appearing in our two-loop amplitudes, we rely on the method of sector decomposition, as implemented in the latest version of PYSECDEC. We first generate expressions for the reduced amplitudes in terms of the 494 master integrals, as described in section 2.4. The amplitudes along with the definitions of the integral families are passed to PYSECDEC, which generates a single code capable of evaluating all bare form factors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In our final basis, we have a total of 25 6-propagator master integrals (+25 obtained by crossing) belonging to F1, F2 and F4 with a  $1/\epsilon$  present in their coefficient in the amplitude. The integrals  $\mathcal{I}_{(0,1,1,1,1,0,2,1,0)}^{F5,D=6-2\epsilon}(s,t)$ and  $\mathcal{I}_{(0,1,1,1,1,0,2,1,0)}^{F5,D=6-2\epsilon}(s,u)$  are also present in our final basis, though they are neither finite nor quasi-finite, starting at order  $1/\epsilon$ . We find that these integrals do not contribute significantly to the evaluation time and did not attempt to improve our basis of master integrals further. However, this would be possible in principle.

 $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$ , with i = 1, 2 and  $j = \{g_3g_4g_t, g_3^2g_t, g_4g_t^2, g_3^2g_t^2, g_3g_t^3, g_t^4\}$ . The code is automatically generated such that the master integrals are numerically evaluated only once per phase-space point and then used to generate results for each of the form factors and coupling structures.

Our amplitude code is generated by retaining the full symbolic dependence on  $s, t, m_t$ ,  $m_H$  and expanding in  $\epsilon$ . When evaluating phase-space points, in order to obtain numerically stable coefficients, it is necessary to insert the Mandelstam invariants and masses in a precision higher than the usual floating point double precision. In our code, the input values for the Mandelstam invariants and masses are cast to rational numbers by picking the smallest fraction which reproduces  $s/m_t^2$  and  $t/m_t^2$  to a precision of  $10^{-5}$ , we also set  $m_H^2 = 12/23$ , with  $m_t^2 = 1$ . We stress, however, that since we have retained the full symbolic dependence on the masses in the integral reduction and the generation of our code, we can therefore arbitrarily vary the value of the Higgs boson and top-quark masses.

Due to the significant size of the rational coefficients present in our fully symbolic amplitude, the evaluation of the master integral coefficients can itself be time-consuming, taking a few minutes to obtain the numeric value of all of the master integral coefficients. We, therefore, find it beneficial to generate a second code with the specific value for the Higgs boson mass pre-inserted into the coefficients, this reduces the time taken to evaluate the master integral coefficients significantly.

Upon integration, with the master integral basis we have chosen, we observe spurious poles up to order  $\epsilon^{-4}$  in the coupling structures  $g_3^2 g_t^2$ ,  $g_3 g_t^3$  and  $g_t^4$ . Upon integration, the coefficient of the  $\epsilon^{-4}$ ,  $\epsilon^{-3}$  and  $\epsilon^{-2}$  poles vanish within the precision of the numerical integration, leaving a non-zero  $\epsilon^{-1}$  pole (for structures  $\{g_3 g_4 g_t, g_3^3 g_t, g_3 g_t^3, g_t^4\}$  in form factor  $F_1^{(1)}$  and for  $g_t^4$  in  $F_2^{(1)}$ ) and finite part. The remaining UV  $\epsilon^{-1}$  pole is cancelled against the corresponding counter-term amplitude only after integration.

When evaluating the amplitude, pySECDEC adaptively adjusts the precision with which each integral is obtained in order to reach a given precision for the amplitude (more specifically, each form factor,  $F_{i,j}^{(k)}$ ) in the minimum time. This means that complicated (slow to evaluate or slow to converge) integrals are typically sampled less by the algorithm unless they dominate the uncertainty estimate on the amplitude. In contrast, the algorithm may spend more time evaluating simple integrals precisely, if their contribution to the amplitude is large. In our production runs, we request a relative precision of  $10^{-3}$  on the finite part of each two-loop form factor for each coupling structure,  $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$ . For a typical bulk phase-space point, with  $s \approx 561/130 \cdot m_t^2$  and  $t \approx -566/217 \cdot m_t^2$ , the

For a typical bulk phase-space point, with  $s \approx 561/130 \cdot m_t^2$  and  $t \approx -566/217 \cdot m_t^2$ , the integration takes approximately five minutes on four GPUs.<sup>3</sup> For the selected phase-space point, the algorithm spends the most time evaluating the integrals  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,1)}^{F4}(s,t)$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,1,2,0,0,1)}^{F4}(s,t)$  and uses the most integrand evaluations for  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,1)}^{F4}(s,t)$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,1)}^{F4}(s,u)$ . The least precisely known integrals are  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0)}^{F4}(s,t)$  with an uncertainty of  $\mathcal{O}(3 \times 10^{-4})$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0)}^{F1}(s,t)$  with an uncertainty of  $1 \times 10^{-4}$ , followed by  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,0,1,2,1,1,0,0)}^{F4}(s,t)$  with an uncertainty around  $6 \times 10^{-5}$ . For a point in the high energy regime with  $s \approx 123 \cdot m_t^2$  and  $t \approx -7/5 \cdot m_t^2$  we find that the integrals  $I_{(1,0,1,0,2,1,0,1,1)}^{F4}(s,t)$  and  $I_{(1,0,1,0,2,1,0,1,1)}^{F4}(s,t)$  are the least precisely known after an integration time of two hours. Up to this point, the most time was spent on the integrals  $\mathcal{I}_{(1,0,1,1,1,2,0,0,1)}^{F4}(s,u)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Nvidia A100-PCIE-40GB, CUDA v12040.

and  $\mathcal{I}_{(0,1,1,1,1,0,2,1,0)}^{\mathsf{F1}}(s,u)$ , which are also sampled the most. We remark that all of these integrals are planar.

As a cross-check of the numerical evaluation of our master integrals, we have also obtained a set of differential equations which are symbolic in s and t and have the aforementioned numeric values for the masses. The differential equations are obtained for the same master integral basis as selected for the numerical evaluation described above and are therefore not in canonical form. They are then rescaled by rational functions of  $\epsilon$  to eliminate poles in  $\epsilon$ in the differential equation matrices. To verify our numerical evaluation, we use pySECDEC to generate a number of boundary points at high precision along a contour of increasing sin the s-t plane as in figure 2. We then run smaller contours in DIFFEXP between these boundary points to obtain results for the entire contour (except for the  $t\bar{t}H$  threshold where we run very close to the threshold above and below without ever crossing it). We check at given benchmark points that the evaluations from DIFFEXP and PYSECDEC are consistent and plots of a selection of rescaled master integrals are shown in figure 3. The real and imaginary parts of the coefficients of the required orders of  $\epsilon$  in the expansion of the rescaled master integrals are plotted along with the corresponding boundary and benchmark points. A ratio of the pySECDEC result to the DIFFEXP result is given in the lower subplot. For completeness, we list the rescalings of the selected master integrals here:

$$c_{5}(\epsilon) = \frac{\epsilon}{(\epsilon - 1)^{2}(2\epsilon - 3)(2\epsilon - 1)^{2}(2\epsilon + 1)(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)(4\epsilon - 3)(4\epsilon - 1)}$$
$$c_{155}(\epsilon) = \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{2\epsilon - 1}, \qquad c_{353}(\epsilon) = \frac{\epsilon^{4}}{2\epsilon - 1}, \qquad c_{464}(\epsilon) = \frac{\epsilon^{4}}{2\epsilon - 1}.$$

Details of the analytic continuation procedure for the master integrals are given in appendix B.

#### 2.6 Electroweak renormalisation

At higher orders in electroweak theory, a tadpole renormalisation has to be performed on top of the usual field, mass and vertex renormalisation. Since the gaugeless limit removes the coupling  $\alpha$  from the theory, conventional input parameter schemes that involve  $\alpha$  cannot be used. As described in section 2.1, we fix the input parameters  $m_H$  and  $m_t$  in the on-shell scheme and use the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme for the vev. Tadpole contributions are treated within the Fleischer-Jegerlehner tadpole scheme (FJTS) [78].

The  $G_{\mu}$  scheme imposes the renormalisation condition that the expression for muon decay corresponds at all orders to the effective four-fermion tree-level interaction in Fermi's theory, thereby fixing the relation between  $G_{\mu}$  and the renormalised vev, and determining the relation between the bare,  $v_0$ , and renormalised vev, v, at each order. In the Yukawa model utilised here, the vertex required for muon decay is not present, therefore it is not possible to directly derive the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme relation between the bare and renormalised vev. In principle, the renormalisation constant for the vev can be fixed from any electroweak vertex in the theory, for example, the triple and quartic Higgs self-interaction vertices or the Yukawa vertex, by requiring that the higher order electroweak corrections to the vertices are finite. The consistency of the electroweak theory means that the pole part of the vev renormalisation constant matches in all schemes and independently of which vertex is used to fix it, only the finite part differs. However, to facilitate the use of our result and its interpretation, we



Figure 2. The physical region in the s-t plane with the physical thresholds corresponding to s-channel cuts shown with dotted lines. Our test contour increasing in s is shown in blue with boundary points plotted along with benchmark points verified in pySECDEC.

present our main results using the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme, we obtain the finite parts of the vev counter term using the complete expression for the vev counterterm presented in ref. [59] in the limit  $M_W \to 0, M_Z \to 0$ . In appendix A.1 we derive the vev renormalisation constants from each of the vertices in our theory and discuss this point in further detail. With the chosen schemes and conditions, the renormalised quantities and counterterms

$$H_0 = \sqrt{Z_H} H = \sqrt{1 + \delta_H} H, \qquad (2.24)$$

$$t_0 = \sqrt{Z_t} t = \sqrt{1 + \delta_t} t, \qquad (2.25)$$

$$m_{H,0}^2 = m_H^2 (1 + \delta m_H^2), \qquad (2.26)$$

$$m_{t,0} = m_t (1 + \delta m_t),$$
 (2.27)

$$v_0 + \Delta v = v(1 + \delta_v) + \Delta v, \qquad (2.28)$$

can be fixed. Note that the vev renormalisation condition contains one contribution,  $\Delta v$ , from the FJTS for the shift of the vev and another contribution,  $\delta_v$ , from the vertex correction. For a detailed description of the procedure, please refer to appendix A. The explicit expressions used in this work are listed in appendix A.2 and a comparison to expressions in the literature is presented in appendix A.3.

A gluon field renormalisation factor,  $Z_g$ , or strong coupling renormalisation is not needed, since it would only receive electroweak corrections at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s \alpha)$ , i.e. at a higher order in the strong interaction as a mixed correction, which we do not consider here.

The renormalised amplitude  $\mathcal{M}_{ren}$  can now be calculated from the sum of the LO matrix element  $\mathcal{M}^{(0)}$ , with the bare fields and parameters expressed in terms of the renormalised





(a) An integral which diverges at the  $t\bar{t}$  threshold.

(b) An integral with a  $t\bar{t}H$  threshold.



## (c) An integral with a $t\bar{t}$ threshold.



Figure 3. Real and imaginary parts of coefficients in the  $\epsilon$ -expansion of selected rescaled master integrals taken along the contour shown in figure 2. (a)) Rescaled master #5:  $c_5(\epsilon) \mathcal{I}_{(0,0,3,2,0,1,0,0,0)}^{\text{F1}}(s,t)$ , (b)) rescaled master #155:  $c_{155}(\epsilon) \mathcal{I}_{(0,0,1,0,2,1,0,2,1)}^{\text{F1}}(s,t)$ , (c)) rescaled master #353:  $c_{353}(\epsilon) \mathcal{I}_{(1,0,0,1,1,1,1,0,1)}^{\text{F4}}(s,t)$  and (d)) rescaled master #464:  $c_{464}(\epsilon) \mathcal{I}_{(2,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,2)}^{\text{F4}}(s,u)$ . The lower panel of each figure shows the ratio of the PYSECDEC result to the DIFFEXP result for the real part of the coefficient of  $\epsilon^4$  which contributes to the amplitude at finite order.

quantities, and the NLO matrix element  $\mathcal{M}^{(1)}$ ,

$$\mathcal{M}_{\rm ren} = Z_H \cdot \left[ \mathcal{M}^{(0)} \left( m_t \left( 1 + \delta m_t \right), m_H^2 \left( 1 + \delta m_H^2 \right), v \left( 1 + \delta_v \right) + \Delta v \right) + \mathcal{M}^{(1)} \left( m_t, m_H^2, v \right) \right],$$
(2.29)

where we have suppressed the gluon colour indices of the matrix element appearing in eq. (2.8). The matrix element  $\mathcal{M}^{(0)}$  contains all one-loop contributions as well as diagrams with counterterm insertions. All occurring parameters are the renormalised ones. Expanding to first order in  $\delta X$  with  $X = \{H, t, m_H^2, m_t, v\}$  and including the tadpole corrections to the vev,  $\Delta v$ , we may rewrite the renormalised amplitude as,

$$\mathcal{M}_{\rm ren} = \mathcal{M}^{(0)}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \mathcal{M}^{(1)}_{\delta \mathbf{X}}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \mathcal{M}^{(1)}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \mathcal{O}(\delta X^2),$$
(2.30)

with

$$\mathcal{M}_{\delta \mathbf{X}}^{(1)} = \delta_H \mathcal{M}^{(0)}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \delta m_t \mathcal{M}_{\delta m_t}^{(0)}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \delta m_H^2 \mathcal{M}_{\delta m_H^2}^{(0)}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \delta v \mathcal{M}_{\delta v}^{(0)}(m_t, m_H^2, v) + \Delta v \mathcal{M}_{\Delta v}^{(0)}(m_t, m_H^2, v).$$
(2.31)

In practice, we separate the counterterm amplitudes,  $\mathcal{M}_{\delta X}^{(1)}$ , according to the form factor, i = 1, 2, and the coupling structure,  $j = g_3 g_t, g_t^2$ , appearing in the amplitude as well as the additional coupling structures appearing in the counterterms  $\delta X$  themselves. We obtain the finite one-loop and two-loop renormalised form factors by taking the combination,

$$F_i^{(0),\text{fin}} = F_i^{(0)}, \tag{2.32}$$

$$F_i^{(1),\text{fin}} = F_i^{(1)} + F_i^{(1),\delta X},$$
(2.33)

respectively, where  $F_i^{(1),\delta X}$  collects the counterterm contribution obtained by applying the projectors (given in eqs. (2.12) and (2.13)) to the counterterm amplitude in eq. (2.31). The counterterm amplitudes are generated by inserting the counterterm vertices given in appendix A.2 into the one-loop amplitude, leaving the counterterms  $\delta X$  and  $\Delta v$  symbolic, then factoring them out of the amplitude. The counterterms  $\delta X$  and the tadpole terms  $\Delta v$ contain  $1/\epsilon$  divergences, therefore, the counterterm amplitudes must be expanded up to and including  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$  in order to obtain correct results for  $\mathcal{M}_{\delta X}^{(1)}$  at finite order. We evaluate the counterterm amplitudes numerically in pySECDEC, and insert the  $A_0$  and  $B_0$  (tadpole and bubble) integrals appearing in the counterterms symbolically.

We remark that, when considering the form factors separated by individual coupling structures, the sum of the two-loop and corresponding counter term contribution is not finite for all form factors, i.e. the sums  $F_{i,j}^{(1)} + F_{i,j}^{(1),\delta X}$  are not individually finite. The reason for this is that, in the SM, the couplings  $g_t, g_3$ , and  $g_4$  are not independent quantities, they must obey the relations given in eq. (2.6) for the  $\epsilon$  poles of the renormalised amplitude to cancel. As a result, the Higgs boson trilinear,  $g_3$ , and quartic,  $g_4$ , couplings can not be naively varied without also modifying the underlying theory, for example by adding mass dimension-6 (and/or dimension-8) operators, see e.g. ref. [79], or additional particles/symmetries.

A further complication arises when considering the renormalised form factors separated by individual coupling structures in  $G_{\mu}$  scheme. As described above, in this scheme the  $\delta_{v}$ counterterm is derived using the muon decay process, which requires the presence of W and Z bosons and their associated couplings in the theory. Using results from the literature for this counter term, it is not straightforward to separate the contributions to  $\delta_{v}$  in the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme according to the couplings  $g_{3}, g_{4}$  and  $g_{t}$ . The contributions of different coupling structures to the  $\delta_{v}$  counterterm also depend on the choice of the renormalisation conditions, as described in appendix A.1. In this work, we therefore do not attempt this separation and report only the finite renormalised form factors  $F_{i}^{(1),\text{fin}}$  constructed employing the SM values/relations for the various couplings.

## 3 Results

In this section, we present the results of our computation. We begin by discussing both the bare,  $F_1$  and  $F_2$ , and renormalised,  $F_1^{\text{fin}}$  and  $F_2^{\text{fin}}$ , form factors, before presenting results for the total cross section and differential distributions at NLO<sup>EW</sup>, including only the Yukawa and self-coupling contributions.

<i>j</i> : <i>ϵ</i> <sup>#</sup>	$F_{1,j}^{(1)}$	$F_{2,j}^{(1)}$
$a_2a_4a_4 \cdot \epsilon^{-1}$	$+7.317018424938384 \cdot 10^{-5}$	0
939491 • •	$+3.530994674708006 \cdot 10^{-5} i$	
$a_{2}a_{4}a_{5}\cdot\epsilon^{0}$	$+3.273276184619130\cdot 10^{-4}$	0
$g_{3}g_{4}g_{t}$ . c	$+2.941949902790170\cdot 10^{-4}i$	0
$a^{3}a + c^{-1}$	$+4.035301063033099\cdot10^{-6}$	0
$y_3y_t:\epsilon$	$+1.947326866890242\cdot 10^{-6}i$	0
-3 - · · 0	$+3.494986290012938951 \cdot 10^{-5}$	0
$g_3g_t:\epsilon^*$	$-4.477006613201774340 \cdot 10^{-5} i$	0
$a_1a^2 \cdot c^0$	$+1.4701555653754324\cdot10^{-4}$	0
$g_4g_t$ . e	$-3.14685463406167 {\bf 29} \cdot 10^{-4}  i$	0
$a^2 a^2 \cdot c^0$	$-3.00418959847 12 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$-1.0678083 12 \cdot 10^{-6}$
$g_3 g_t$ : e	$+1.36208618462 \textbf{96} \cdot 10^{-4}  i$	$+4.825510899 \cdot 10^{-6} i$
$a_{1}a_{3} \cdot c^{-1}$	$+9.620868816878\cdot 10^{-5}$	0
$g_3 g_t$ . e	$-1.157183797579\cdot 10^{-4}i$	0
$a_{1}a_{3}^{3}$ $b_{2}a_{1}^{0}$	$+7.72339132021\cdot 10^{-4}$	$+5.94722962\cdot 10^{-5}$
$g_3g_t$ : e	$+1.22972663623\cdot10^{-4}i$	$+6.546467$ 67 $\cdot 10^{-5} i$
<u>-4</u> −1	$-4.509709135223640\cdot10^{-3}$	$-5.41141411126\cdot 10^{-5}$
$g_t:\epsilon$	$-1.00902628905344 1 \cdot 10^{-3}  i$	$+7.83375122326\cdot10^{-5}i$
a4.c0	$-2.119575532656\cdot 10^{-2}$	$-3.36569 13 \cdot 10^{-4}$
$g_{ar{t}}:\epsilon^{\circ}$	$-8.827769663982 \cdot 10^{-3} i$	$+4.6338899 \cdot 10^{-4} i$

**Table 3.** Numeric results for the bare form factors,  $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$ , for each coupling structure on the phasespace point:  $\{s = 799/125, t = -519/500, m_H^2 = 12/23, m_t^2 = 1\}$ . Boldface digits represent the error on the final two stated digits and where there are none, the stated digits are accurate to the given precision. Missing  $\epsilon$  orders are understood to be identically zero.

In table 3, we provide explicit numbers for the NLO<sup>EW</sup> contributions of each of the coupling structures to the bare amplitude form factors  $F_1$  and  $F_2$ . We note that these numbers are the coefficients of the coupling structures (and so need to be multiplied by the coupling structures themselves as in eq. (2.16)). We make a number of comments about these results. Firstly, we note that  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  correspond to the  $\mathcal{M}^{++}$  and  $\mathcal{M}^{+-}$  helicity amplitudes, respectively. Therefore, contributions to  $F_1$  have an initial state with a total spin of zero, whilst  $F_2$  receives contributions from initial states with total spin two. For the structures  $g_3g_4g_t$  and  $g_3^3g_t$ , the contributions to  $F_2^{(1)}$  are zero because these diagrams are entirely one-particle-reducible (1PR) via a cut through a Higgs boson propagator (see table 1 and figure 1), therefore the initial states have total spin zero. Similarly, the contribution from structure  $g_4g_t^2$  to  $F_2^{(1)}$  is zero since diagrams with this structure can only contribute to spin zero due to their symmetry. Finally, there is no  $1/\epsilon$  pole contribution to  $F_2^{(1)}$  from structure  $g_3 g_t^3$  because the only 1PI counterterm diagrams (which must topologically be LO box diagrams to contribute to  $F_2^{(1)}$ ) which could correspond to this coupling structure have counterterm insertions in the Yukawa vertex, the relevant part of the correction is given in figure 6(e) in appendix A.1. This particular contribution to the Yukawa vertex correction is  $\epsilon$ -finite, hence this structure's contribution to  $F_2^{(1)}$  is also finite.



**Figure 4.** The UV-renormalised form factors  $F_1^{(1),\text{fin}}$  (left panel) and  $F_2^{(1),\text{fin}}$  (right panel) divided by  $g_s^2$ . Note that the spread of points, which is due to the *t*-dependence, is milder in  $F_1^{(1)}$  than in  $F_2^{(1)}$ . The uncertainty of each phase-space point due to the limited precision of the numerical integration is indicated with an error bar.

In figure 4 we display the finite, UV-renormalised, form factors as a function of the Mandelstam invariant s. Examining the  $F_1^{(1),\text{fin}}$  form factor we observe that it has both a real and imaginary part for all physically accessible values of s, even close to the HH production threshold, this is because it receives a large contribution from diagrams with a two-particle cut through a pair of Higgs bosons (i.e. with a HH threshold), see e.g. figures 1(a)-1(d). The t-dependence, visible in the spread of points at a given s value, is much milder for  $F_1^{(1),\text{fin}}$  than  $F_2^{(1),\text{fin}}$ . Considering the  $F_2^{(1),\text{fin}}$  form factor, we note that it is also complex-valued in the entire physically accessible region of phase-space. However, only a small imaginary part exists between the HH and  $t\bar{t}$  thresholds. As discussed, the  $F_2^{(1),\text{fin}}$  form factor receives contributions only from 1PI diagrams, the only class of diagrams contributing with a HH threshold in the s-channel are those of figure 1(d). We find that numerically the contribution of these diagrams to  $F_2^{(1),\text{fin}}$  at low invariant mass is much smaller than that of other coupling structures. In appendix C we present plots of the finite term of the individual bare form factors  $F_{i,i}^{(1)}$ .

In order to verify our results, we carried out a number of checks. Firstly, we checked that our two independently generated amplitudes (before reduction to masters) were symbolically identical up to sector relations and symmetries. Secondly, we confirmed that the amplitude is symmetric under the exchange of t and u by comparing the numerical results of multiple pairs of phase-space points wherein the first point's t-value is substituted by  $u = 2m_H^2 - s - t$  in the second and observing that these are identical within the stated numerical error. Thirdly, for the two-loop contribution, we observed that before UV renormalisation the only poles appearing were  $1/\epsilon$  (spurious poles up to order  $1/\epsilon^4$  cancel). After UV renormalisation, all poles cancel which simultaneously corroborates our expectation that there are neither soft nor collinear IR singularities. We also checked that poles of the bare form factors  $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$  are purely real below the  $t\bar{t}$  threshold for a selection of phase-space points in this kinematic region.

For the presentation of our final results, we use the PDF4LHC21\_40 [80] distribution functions interfaced via LHAPDF [81] and set the factorisation and renormalisation scale to  $\mu_r = \mu_f = m_{HH}/2$ . The masses of the Higgs boson and top quark are set to  $m_H = 125$  GeV,

$\sqrt{s}$	$13\mathrm{TeV}$	$13.6{\rm TeV}$	$14\mathrm{TeV}$
LO [fb]	16.45	18.26	19.52
$\rm NLO^{EW}$ [fb]	16.69	18.52	19.79
$\rm NLO^{EW}/LO$	1.01	1.01	1.01

Table 4. Inclusive cross section for Higgs boson pair production for different centre-of-mass energies at LO and NLO<sup>EW</sup> including only the Yukawa and self-coupling type corrections. The QCD renormalisation and factorisation scales are set to  $\mu_r = \mu_f = m_{HH}/2$ .



Figure 5. Invariant mass and transverse momentum distributions for Higgs boson pair production at LO and NLO<sup>EW</sup> including only the Yukawa and self-coupling type corrections. The QCD renormalisation and factorisation scales are set to  $\mu_r = \mu_f = m_{HH}/2$ .

 $m_t = \sqrt{23/12} m_H = 173.055$  GeV, respectively, and we set  $G_F = 1.1663787 \cdot 10^{-5}$  GeV<sup>-2</sup>, corresponding to v = 246.22 GeV.

Results for the total and differential cross section at the LHC with a centre-of-mass energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ , 13.6 TeV and 14 TeV are given in table 4 and shown differentially in  $m_{HH}$  and  $p_{T,H}$  in figure 5, respectively. These results are obtained by reweighting ~ 7000 unweighted LO events with the NLO<sup>EW</sup> contribution. We observe that the partial NLO<sup>EW</sup> corrections computed here increase the total cross section by ~ 1%. This is comparable to the size of the QCD scale uncertainty of ~ 3% obtained at N<sup>3</sup>LO in the heavy top-quark limit [28, 29].

For the invariant mass distribution, shown in figure 5, the corrections introduce very large shape distortions, ~ 30% with the binning we select, close to the Higgs pair production threshold, compatible with the observations of ref. [36]. In ref. [41], it was found that the full EW corrections lead to an enhancement of the  $m_{HH}$  spectrum close to the Higgs boson pair production threshold of up to 15%. Reproducing the binning used in ref. [41] we find an enhancement of ~ 25%, suggesting that the gauge boson contributions included in their full results partly cancel the enhancement we see at low  $m_{HH}$  values. This appears plausible when looking at individual contributions to the EW corrections for single Higgs boson production [32–34]. The shape distortions in the  $p_{T,H}$  distribution of our results are less localised, with a significant 5% enhancement just below the top-quark pair production threshold and at high- $p_{T,H}$ , along with suppression at the level of 2% just above the top-quark pair production threshold. In our results, we see a general enhancement at high  $m_{HH}$  and  $p_{T,H}$  not present in the full EW corrections, this suggests that the gauge boson contribution dominates at high-energy and is negative.

We have also evaluated our results using the NNPDF31\_nlo\_as\_0118 PDF set as used in ref. [41]. Using this PDF set, we obtain a total NLO<sup>EW</sup> cross section of 20.19 fb including only the Yukawa and self-coupling type corrections, which is a 1% enhancement compared to the LO. In comparison, the full NLO<sup>EW</sup> total cross section presented in ref. [41] is 19.12(6) fb, which is a 4.2% decrease relative to the LO. This discrepancy suggests that the gauge boson contribution, appearing in the complete EW calculation, dominates the corrections and has the opposite sign to the corrections computed here.

## 4 Conclusions

We have presented the calculation of the electroweak corrections to Higgs boson pair production in gluon fusion in the gaugeless limit. In total, these partial NLO electroweak corrections increase the cross section by about 1%. The corrections impact the Higgs boson pair production invariant mass and transverse momentum distributions, giving an enhancement of up to 30% at low  $m_{HH}$  values due to the Yukawa-type corrections, which is larger than in the case of the full corrections presented in ref. [41], where the enhancement is found to be 15%. This suggests that the gauge boson contributions are negative for  $m_{HH}$  values below the  $2m_t$  threshold. We also observe almost no correction for higher values of  $m_{HH}$ , in contrast to -10% found in ref. [41], suggesting again that this region is dominated by negative contributions from diagrams containing W and Z bosons.

In our calculation, we retain the full symbolic dependence on the top-quark and Higgs boson masses in the reduction to master integrals of the two-loop amplitude. All integrals are calculated using sector decomposition and cross-checked by evaluating them using the series expansion of differential equations. We provide results for the bare amplitude divided into individual form factors separated according to the Yukawa, Higgs trilinear and quartic couplings. We present results for the UV-renormalised form factors, the di-Higgs invariant mass and the Higgs boson transverse momentum distribution. The renormalisation of partial electroweak corrections in the Yukawa model is discussed in detail, this provides relevant input for the interpretation of results presented elsewhere in the literature for non-Standard Model values of the Higgs boson self-couplings.

The results presented here, and the techniques used to obtain them, provide an important cross-check and benchmark for further analysing and interpreting the complete electroweak corrections. For example, the fully symbolic reduction obtained here allows for the study of mass scheme uncertainties. Our results also facilitate investigating the effects of anomalous couplings, for example, anomalous trilinear and quartic Higgs boson couplings. These couplings can be varied consistently within an Effective Field Theory framework, for example the non-linear Effective Field Theory (HEFT), where the fact that the Higgs boson is an EW singlet decorrelates the trilinear and quartic Higgs couplings at leading order in the EFT expansion. Although not the main focus of this work, our complete set of differential equations, which can be evaluated using series expansion methods, may also provide useful semi-analytic insights into the structure of the electroweak corrections.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Vitaly Magerya for support using the ALIBRARY and RATRACER packages, Joshua Davies, Go Mishima, Kay Schönwald, Matthias Steinhauser, Hantian Zhang for cross-checking our bare  $g_t^4$  form factors with the high-energy expansion obtained in ref. [37], Martijn Hidding for support with (and providing a modified version of) DIFFEXP, and Benjamin Pecjak, Tommy Smith, Max Löschner for clarifying discussions regarding input-parameter schemes and renormalisation.

This research was supported in part by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) under grant 396021762 - TRR 257, and by the UK Science and Technology Facilities Council under contract ST/T001011/1. SJ is supported by a Royal Society University Research Fellowship (Grant URF/R1/201268). GH, SJ, TS and AV are grateful to the Galileo Galilei Institute for hospitality and support during the scientific program on "Theory Challenges in the Precision Era of the Large Hadron Collider", where part of this work was done. GH would like to thank the Institute for Particle Physics Phenomenology at Durham University for hospitality while part of this work was carried out.

## A Details of renormalisation

From the Lagrangian of eq. (2.4) one arrives at a fully renormalised theory by first including the vev shift  $v_0 \rightarrow v_0 + \Delta v$  to obtain

$$\mathcal{L}' = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} H_0)^{\dagger} (\partial^{\mu} H_0) + \frac{\mu_0^2}{2} (v_0 + \Delta v + H_0)^2 + \frac{\lambda_0}{16} (v_0 + \Delta v + H_0)^4 + i \bar{t}_0 \not D t_0 - y_{t,0} \frac{v_0 + \Delta v + H_0}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{t}_0 t_0$$
(A.1)

$$= \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} H_{0})^{\dagger} (\partial^{\mu} H_{0}) + H_{0} \left( \mu_{0}^{2} v_{0} + \frac{\lambda_{0} v_{0}^{3}}{4} + \Delta v (\mu_{0}^{2} + \frac{3}{4} \lambda_{0} v_{0}^{2}) \right) + H_{0}^{2} \left( \frac{\mu_{0}^{2}}{2} + \frac{3 v_{0}^{2} \lambda_{0}}{8} + \frac{3}{4} \lambda_{0} v_{0} \Delta v \right) + H_{0}^{3} \left( \frac{\lambda_{0} v_{0}}{4} + \Delta v \frac{\lambda_{0}}{4} \right) + H_{0}^{4} \frac{\lambda_{0}}{16} + i \bar{t}_{0} \not{D} t_{0} - m_{t,0} \bar{t}_{0} t_{0} - \frac{m_{t,0}}{v_{0}} \Delta v \bar{t}_{0} t_{0} - \frac{m_{t,0}}{v_{0}} H_{0} \bar{t}_{0} t_{0} .$$
(A.2)

This step is required to keep the value of  $v_0$  at the minimum of the Higgs potential, which is shifted at NLO compared to LO. On a diagrammatic level, the shift of the minimum of the Higgs potential is caused by diagrams containing tadpole sub-diagrams.

The definition of the vev upon renormalisation is therefore related to the treatment of tadpole contributions. Tadpole counterterms can be generated in two different ways in the Lagrangian: through parameter renormalisation [56, 82, 83], or via Higgs field redefinitions [78, 82, 84, 85], see ref. [57] for a review. The latter is also called Fleischer-Jegerlehner scheme (FJTS). A new scheme for tadpole renormalisation, dubbed Gauge-Invariant Vacuum expectation value Scheme (GIVS), has been suggested recently [86], which is a hybrid scheme of the two schemes mentioned above, with the benefits of being gauge independent while avoiding large corrections in  $\overline{\text{MS}}$ -type schemes. The effects of certain input parameter schemes in SMEFT have been studied in ref. [59]. When using OS renormalisation in unitary gauge, the FJTS is a suitable choice yielding the vev shift prescription and thereby the Lagrangian of eq. (A.2). The emerging term linear in the Higgs field is identified with the tadpole counterterm

$$\delta T = \left(\mu_0^2 v_0 + \frac{\lambda_0 v_0^3}{4} + \Delta v (\mu_0^2 + \frac{3}{4}\lambda_0 v_0^2)\right) = -\Delta v m_H^2, \qquad (A.3)$$

where the first two terms in the brackets cancel upon using eq. (2.5) and, in the second equality, the bare quantities have been expressed in terms of their renormalised counterparts, neglecting higher-order terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\delta_X^2, \Delta v \delta_X, (\Delta v)^2)$ . The renormalisation condition is that the sum of the tadpoles,  $T^H$ , and the tadpole counterterm,  $\delta T$ , should vanish at the given order,

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \delta T + T^H \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \delta T = -T^H = -\left[ - - - \right] . \tag{A.4}$$

With this condition, all contributions from tadpole subdiagrams are integrated out and collected in the counterterm  $\delta T$ . Inserting eq. (A.3) as well as the field, parameter, and vertex renormalisations from eqs. (2.24) through (2.28) into eq. (A.2) yields the fully renormalised Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \delta_H) (\partial_\mu H)^{\dagger} (\partial^\mu H) + H \delta T - \left( \frac{m_H^2}{2} \left( 1 + \delta m_H^2 + \delta_H \right) - \frac{3\delta T}{2v} \right) H^2 - \left( \frac{g_3}{3!} \left( 1 + \delta m_H^2 + \frac{3}{2} \delta_H - \delta_v \right) - \frac{\delta T}{2v^2} \right) H^3 - \frac{g_4}{4!} \left( 1 + \delta m_H^2 + 2\delta_H - 2\delta_v \right) H^4 + i (1 + \delta_t) \bar{t} D t - m_t \left( 1 + \delta m_t + \delta_t - \frac{\delta T}{v m_H^2} \right) \bar{t} t - g_t \left( 1 + \delta m_t + \frac{\delta_H}{2} + \delta_t - \delta_v \right) H \bar{t} t,$$
(A.5)

where the couplings  $g_3, g_4$  and  $g_t$  are the renormalised counterparts of the bare couplings,  $g_{3,0}, g_{4,0}$  and  $g_{t,0}$ . They obey eq. (2.6) after substituting the bare quantities with their renormalised values. Since the explicit tadpole insertions into each diagram now cancel with the corresponding explicit tadpole counterterm insertions, we can neglect both of these explicit contributions. Tadpole contributions will therefore only appear implicitly due to the terms  $\delta T$  appearing in the counterterm insertions, given in appendix A.2 (see also ref. [57] section 3.1.7, where they use the notation  $\delta t$  to denote what we call  $\delta T$  in the present work).

We perform an on-shell renormalisation, which fixes  $\delta_H$ ,  $\delta_t$ ,  $\delta m_H^2$  and  $\delta m_t$  via the renormalisation conditions

$$0 = \left[\Sigma(p)\right]_{p=m}, \quad 0 = \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p}\Sigma(p)\right]_{p=m}.$$
 (A.6)

The masses m and self-energies  $\Sigma$  are those of the top quark and the Higgs boson, respectively. For the top self-energy  $\Sigma_t$ , only the mixed top-Higgs bubble  $\longrightarrow$  and the counterterm insertion  $\longrightarrow$  contribute whereas for the Higgs self-energy  $\Sigma_H$ , there are three diagrams and the counterterm insertion. The resulting renormalisation constants are given in appendix A.2.



Figure 6. Example diagrams contributing to the fixing of  $\delta_v$  from the Higgs cubic vertex ((a), (b), (c)), the Yukawa vertex ((d), (e)) and the Higgs quartic vertex ((f), (g), (h), (i)).

The vev counterterm can be fixed using any of the Yukawa, triple, or quartic Higgs selfinteraction vertices. For consistency with much of the literature on EW corrections, we employ the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme and use the counterterm as given in ref. [59] in the limit  $M_W \to 0, M_Z \to 0$ , as detailed in section A.1.

Finally, we note that the top-quark wave function renormalisation counterterm  $\delta_t$  enters in multiple vertices, but since there are only closed top loops occurring, the final result should not contain any dependence on this quantity. Every top vertex counterterm insertion  $\propto \delta_t$  is cancelled by the top propagator insertion  $\propto \delta_t^{-1}$ . This also serves as a crosscheck of the renormalised amplitude and, indeed, we do not observe any dependence on  $\delta_t$  in our final expression.

#### A.1 Vacuum expectation value counterterm

The vev counterterm can be fixed by demanding the finiteness of the higher-order electroweak corrections to an electroweak vertex of the theory. For determining the poles of the counterterm, it does not matter which vertex is picked, and we are free to use either the Yukawa, Higgs cubic or Higgs quartic vertex. By explicit calculation, we find that all three vertices give the same UV divergent part for the vev counterterm,

$$\delta_v|_{\rm UV} = -\frac{3m_H^4 + 2m_H^2 m_t^2 N_c - 8m_t^4 N_c}{32\pi^2 m_H^2 v^2 \epsilon},\tag{A.7}$$

upon demanding that NLO electroweak virtual contributions do not correct the tree-level expression for the vertex. For example, for the Yukawa coupling, we may require that

$$-ig_t \stackrel{!}{=} \Gamma_{H\bar{t}t},\tag{A.8}$$

at NLO with the diagrams in figures 6(d) and 6(e) contributing to  $\Gamma_{H\bar{t}t}$ . This fixes the vev counterterm and we find that the divergent part in our theory is given by

$$\delta_v^{g_t}(g_t, g_3, g_4)|_{\rm UV} = -\frac{g_3 g_t m_H^2 + 2g_t^2 m_t \left(m_H^2 - 4m_t^2\right) N_c}{32\pi^2 m_H^2 m_t \epsilon}$$
(A.9)

where  $g_4$  is included as an argument because  $\delta_v^{g_t}$  can, in principle, have a  $g_4$ -dependence at higher-orders (but the UV part at NLO explicitly does not). If instead we fix the vev counterterm from the Higgs cubic self-coupling by requiring that

$$-ig_3 \stackrel{!}{=} \Gamma_{HHH} \tag{A.10}$$

holds to NLO in our theory — contributions include the diagrams in figures 6(a), 6(b) and 6(c) — then we obtain,

$$\delta_{v}^{g_{3}}(g_{t},g_{3},g_{4})|_{\mathrm{UV}} = -\frac{1}{32\pi^{2}g_{3}m_{H}^{4}\epsilon} \Big[g_{3}g_{4}m_{H}^{4} + 8g_{4}g_{t}m_{H}^{2}m_{t}^{3}N_{c} - 8g_{3}^{2}g_{t}m_{t}^{3}N_{c} + 2g_{3}g_{t}^{2}m_{H}^{2}\left(m_{H}^{2} + 12m_{t}^{2}\right)N_{c} - 48g_{t}^{3}m_{H}^{4}m_{t}N_{c}\Big].$$
(A.11)

Similarly, from the requirement

$$-ig_4 \stackrel{!}{=} \Gamma_{HHHH} \,, \tag{A.12}$$

we obtain

$$\delta_{v}^{g_{4}}(g_{t},g_{3},g_{4})|_{\mathrm{UV}} = -\frac{2g_{t}g_{4}N_{c}(g_{t}(m_{H}^{4}+6m_{H}^{2}m_{t}^{2})-2g_{3}m_{t}^{3})+g_{4}^{2}m_{H}^{4}-24g_{t}^{4}m_{H}^{4}N_{c}}{32\pi^{2}g_{4}m_{H}^{4}\epsilon}$$
(A.13)

whose derivation includes contributions from the diagrams in figures 6(f), 6(g), 6(h) and 6(i). Upon insertion of the SM coupling values of eq. (2.6), all of our calculations of the divergent part of  $\delta_v$  coincide. That is to say,

$$\delta_{v}^{g_{t}}\left(\frac{m_{t}}{v},\frac{3m_{H}^{2}}{v},\frac{3m_{H}^{2}}{v^{2}}\right)\Big|_{\mathrm{UV}} = \delta_{v}^{g_{3}}\left(\frac{m_{t}}{v},\frac{3m_{H}^{2}}{v},\frac{3m_{H}^{2}}{v^{2}}\right)\Big|_{\mathrm{UV}} = \delta_{v}^{g_{4}}\left(\frac{m_{t}}{v},\frac{3m_{H}^{2}}{v},\frac{3m_{H}^{2}}{v^{2}}\right)\Big|_{\mathrm{UV}} \stackrel{!}{=} \delta_{v}|_{\mathrm{UV}}$$
(A.14)

as they must since the pole cancellation has to occur independently of the scheme choice. The finite terms, on the other hand, differ. To obtain a result comparable with other authors' works, we choose the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme. The pole structure also agrees in this case; to fix the finite part we use the result of ref. [59] which is obtained from the full SM contributions in  $G_{\mu}$  scheme. After application of the same limits as in the Lagrangian, namely  $M_W, M_Z \to 0$ , we arrive at the counterterm in eq. (A.20).



Table 5. Feynman rules and counterterm insertions for the renormalised theory.

## A.2 Feynman rules & counterterm expressions

The Lagrangian of Eq. (A.5) yields the Feynman rules for renormalised quantities and counterterm insertions given in table 5.

We do not list the rules for the gluon self-interactions, since any diagrams involving these vertices are identically zero by colour. The analytic expressions for the counterterm insertions  $\delta_X$  are as follows:

$$\delta m_t = -\frac{g_t}{2m_t^2} \Big[ \Big( \frac{g_3 m_t}{m_H^2} - g_t \Big) \tilde{A}_0(m_H^2) + g_t \Big( 1 - 8\frac{m_t^2}{m_H^2} N_c \Big) \tilde{A}_0(m_t^2) + g_t (m_H^2 - 4m_t^2) \tilde{B}_0(m_t^2, m_H^2, m_t^2) \Big]$$
(A.15)

$$\delta_t = + \frac{g_t^2}{2m_t^2} \Big[ \Big( (3 - 2\epsilon) + 4(\epsilon - 1) \frac{m_t^2}{m_H^2} \Big) \tilde{A}_0(m_H^2) + (2\epsilon - 3) \tilde{A}_0(m_t^2) \\ + (2\epsilon - 3)(m_H^2 - 2m_t^2) \tilde{B}_0(m_t^2, m_H^2, m_t^2) \Big]$$
(A.16)

$$\delta m_H^2 = -\frac{1}{2m_H^2} \Big[ \Big( \frac{g_3^2}{m_H^2} - g_4 \Big) \tilde{A}_0(m_H^2) + 8g_t N_c (g_t - g_3 \frac{m_t}{m_H^2}) \tilde{A}_0(m_t^2) - g_3^2 \tilde{B}_0(m_H^2, m_H^2, m_H^2) - 4g_t^2 (m_H^2 - 4m_t^2) N_c \tilde{B}_0(m_H^2, m_t^2, m_t^2) \Big]$$
(A.17)

$$\delta_{H} = + \frac{1}{3m_{H}^{2}} \Big[ \frac{g_{3}^{2}}{m_{H}^{2}} (\epsilon - 1) \tilde{A}_{0}(m_{H}^{2}) + 12g_{t}^{2} N_{c}(1 - \epsilon) \tilde{A}_{0}(m_{t}^{2}) + \frac{g_{3}^{2}}{2} (2 - \epsilon) \tilde{B}_{0}(m_{H}^{2}, m_{H}^{2}, m_{H}^{2}) - 6g^{2} ((1 - \epsilon)m_{L}^{2} + 2m_{L}^{2}) N \tilde{B}_{c}(m_{L}^{2} - m_{L}^{2} - m_{L}^{2}) \Big]$$
(A.18)

$$\delta T = -\frac{g_3}{2} \tilde{A}_0(m_H^2) + 4g_t m_t N_c \tilde{A}_0(m_t^2)$$

$$\delta v = \frac{1}{2^{D} \pi^{D/2}} \frac{1}{2v^2} \left( -\frac{m_H^2}{2} + N_c m_t^2 - 2N_c A_0(m_t^2) - 3A_0(m_H^2) + 8N_c \frac{m_t^2}{m_H^2} A_0(m_t^2) \right)$$
(A.19)
(A.20)

As explained in appendix A.1,  $\delta_v$  cannot be split up in different coupling structures, since we obtain the full expression from [59], where this is not provided.

The scalar integrals are defined to be

$$\tilde{A}_0(m_1^2) := \frac{1}{2^D \pi^{D/2}} A_0(m_1^2) = \frac{\mu^{4-D}}{2^D \pi^{D/2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D \ell}{i \pi^{D/2}} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - m_1^2} \tag{A.21}$$

$$\tilde{B}_0(p^2, m_1^2, m_2^2) := \frac{1}{2^D \pi^{D/2}} B_0(p^2, m_1^2, m_2^2) = \frac{\mu^{4-D}}{2^D \pi^{D/2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D \ell}{i\pi^{D/2}} \frac{1}{(\ell^2 - m_1^2)((\ell + p)^2 - m_2^2)}$$
(A.22)

with the t'Hooft scale,  $\mu$ , to repair the dimensionality and the causal  $i\delta$  Feynman prescription understood implicitly.

## A.3 Comparison of counterterms and renormalization procedures

In this section, we briefly compare the renormalisation procedure used for the vev in our work, given in eq. (2.28) and eq. (A.20), to the schemes presented in ref. [59] and ref. [57].

After dropping all non-SM terms, the vev renormalization in eq. (2.18) of ref. [59] reads

$$\frac{1}{v_{T,0}^2} = \frac{1}{v_{\mu}^2} \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{v_{\mu}^2} \Delta v_{\mu}^{(4,1,\mu)} \right] = \frac{1}{v_{\mu}^2} \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{v_{\mu}^2} \Delta \tilde{v}_{\mu}^{(4,1,\mu)} - \frac{1}{v_{\mu}^2} \Delta v_{\mu,\text{tad}}^{(4,1,\mu)} \right], \quad (A.23)$$

where we have used eq. (A.14) of the same reference to collect all contributions not associated with tadpoles in  $\Delta \tilde{v}^{(4,1,\mu)}_{\mu}$  and the remaining tadpole contributions in  $\Delta v^{(4,1,\mu)}_{\mu,\text{tad}}$ . Using the relations,

$$v_{T,0}|_{[59]} \equiv v_0 + \Delta v,$$
 (A.24)

$$v_{\mu}|_{[59]} \equiv v \tag{A.25}$$

and inserting eq. (2.28), we obtain,

$$\frac{1}{v_{T,0}^2} = \frac{1}{(v_0 + \Delta v)^2} \approx \frac{1}{v^2 (1 + 2\delta_v + 2\frac{\Delta v}{v})} \approx \frac{1}{v^2} (1 - 2\delta_v - 2\frac{\Delta v}{v})$$
(A.26)

where, in the last two manipulations, we retain only terms linear in  $\delta_v$  and  $\Delta v$ . By comparison, we can identify

$$\Delta v_{\mu}^{(4,1,\mu)}|_{[59]} \equiv 2v^2 (\delta_v + \frac{\Delta v}{v}), \qquad (A.27)$$

$$\Delta v_{\mu,\text{tad}}^{(4,1,\mu)}|_{[59]} \equiv 2v\Delta v \,. \tag{A.28}$$

The comparison of our counterterms to those given in ref. [57], is less straightforward, as they instead use the renormalisation constants  $\delta M_W^2$ ,  $\delta s_w$ ,  $\delta Z_e$  to parametrise the renormalisation, where e is the electric charge,  $s_w = \sin \theta_w$ , and  $\theta_w$  is the Weinberg angle. Using the tree level relation for the bare vev,

$$\frac{2M_{W,0}s_{w,0}}{e_0} = v_0 \tag{A.29}$$

we obtain

$$\frac{\delta M_W^2|_{[57]}}{2M_W^2} + \frac{\delta s_w|_{[57]}}{s_w} - \delta Z_e|_{[57]} = \delta v, \tag{A.30}$$

where the extra factors of  $M_W$  and  $s_w$  in the denominator are due to their definition  $M_{i,0}^2 = M_i^2 + \delta M_i^2$ , for i = W, Z rather than e.g.  $M_{i,0}^2 = M_i^2 (1 + \delta M_i^2)$ , see eq. (98) of ref. [57]. This allows us to express our counter terms, given in section A.2, in terms of their renormalisation constants. To match our counterterm expressions exactly, we additionally set  $\delta t_{\text{PRTS}}|_{[57]} = 0$  and  $\delta t_{\text{FJTS}}|_{[57]} = \delta T$  in their expressions, i.e. we select the Fleischer-Jegerlehner tadpole scheme. Finally, to recover the counterterm insertions we give in eq. (A.20), the  $\delta Z_e$  expression should be derived in the  $G_{\mu}$  scheme, as described in section 5.1.1 of ref. [57].

## **B** Analytic continuation of the master integrals

In order to determine how we should perform the analytic continuation of the master integrals from the Euclidean region to the physical region, we first remark that the Feynman " $i\delta$ " prescription in momentum space corresponds, in Feynman parameter space, to the following replacement in the second Symanzik polynomial  $\mathcal{F}$ :

$$\mathcal{F} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F} - i\delta$$
 (B.1)

where we have used the postive-definiteness of the first Symanzik polynomial  $\mathcal{U}$ . This prescription must be applied consistently in order to obtain valid results when crossing threshold singularities. From the diagram-constructable definition of the second Symanzik polynomial  $\mathcal{F}$ , this corresponds to sending all the (squared) momenta flowing between two 2-forests,  $s(T_1, T_2)$ , to  $s(T_1, T_2) + i\delta$  and internal masses squared,  $m_i^2$ , to  $m_i^2 - i\delta$  [54].

In DIFFEXP, we encounter segments centred on threshold singularities and their expansions may involve multi-valued functions such as logarithms or square roots. At these points, the  $\delta$ -prescription supplied as an input by the user is applied. Given that  $s(T_1, T_2)$  are linear combinations of the Mandelstam variables and external masses (which also obey conservation relations), DIFFEXP instead takes as input a list of irreducible polynomials ("DeltaPrescriptions") in the dimensionless variables of the problem which are zero on these threshold singularities and an additional term  $\pm i\delta$  to prescribe the branch choice. For physical threshold singularities, the correct choice of  $\pm i\delta$  is essential to obtain accurate results but DIFFEXP also requires a choice to be made for polynomials which go to zero on non-physical singularities and this choice can be freely made without affecting results.

In practice, similarly to [87], we construct the power sets of both the external momenta and the internal masses and generate a list of  $\delta$ -prescriptions of the form  $s - m^2 + i\delta$  where s is a generalised squared sum of momenta and  $m^2$  is a generalised squared sum of internal masses. We obtain a list of irreducible polynomials which are zero on singularities of our partial derivative matrices  $\mathbf{A}_{x_i}$  and then see which correspond directly to prescriptions in our constructed list and give them the correct sign of  $i\delta$  by expanding the given irreducible polynomial about that point. The remaining singularities are non-physical and we arbitrarily assign  $+i\delta$ . This method generates correct results for all points checked so far with pySECDEC and changing the sign of a prescription for a polynomial corresponding to a physical singularity can be explicitly seen to give the wrong result.

# C Bare form factors

In figure 7, we plot the bare form factors separated on coupling structures as in eq. (2.16). The spread of points, which is due to t-dependence, is more pronounced in the contributions to  $F_2^{(1)}$  than in the contributions to  $F_1^{(1)}$ .



Figure 7. Plots of the  $\epsilon^0$  coefficient of the bare form factors separated on coupling structure,  $F_{i,j}^{(1)}$ .

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- ATLAS collaboration, Constraints on the Higgs boson self-coupling from single- and double-Higgs production with the ATLAS detector using pp collisions at √s = 13 TeV, Phys. Lett. B 843 (2023) 137745 [arXiv:2211.01216] [INSPIRE].
- [2] ATLAS collaboration, Combination of Searches for Higgs Boson Pair Production in pp Collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS Detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. **133** (2024) 101801 [arXiv:2406.09971] [INSPIRE].
- [3] CMS collaboration, A portrait of the Higgs boson by the CMS experiment ten years after the discovery, Nature 607 (2022) 60 [arXiv:2207.00043] [INSPIRE].
- [4] CMS collaboration, Constraints on the Higgs boson self-coupling with combination of single and double Higgs boson production, CMS-PAS-HIG-23-006, CERN, Geneva (2023).
- [5] J. Alison et al., Higgs boson potential at colliders: Status and perspectives, Rev. Phys. 5 (2020) 100045 [arXiv:1910.00012] [INSPIRE].
- [6] O.J.P. Eboli, G.C. Marques, S.F. Novaes and A.A. Natale, Twin Higgs boson production, Phys. Lett. B 197 (1987) 269 [INSPIRE].
- [7] E.W.N. Glover and J.J. van der Bij, *Higgs boson pair production via gluon fusion*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 309 (1988) 282 [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Borowka et al., Higgs Boson Pair Production in Gluon Fusion at Next-to-Leading Order with Full Top-Quark Mass Dependence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 012001 [Erratum ibid. 117 (2016) 079901] [arXiv:1604.06447] [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. Borowka et al., Full top quark mass dependence in Higgs boson pair production at NLO, JHEP 10 (2016) 107 [arXiv:1608.04798] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Baglio et al., Gluon fusion into Higgs pairs at NLO QCD and the top mass scheme, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 459 [arXiv:1811.05692] [INSPIRE].
- [11] J. Davies et al., Double Higgs boson production at NLO: combining the exact numerical result and high-energy expansion, JHEP 11 (2019) 024 [arXiv:1907.06408] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J. Baglio et al., Higgs-Pair Production via Gluon Fusion at Hadron Colliders: NLO QCD Corrections, JHEP 04 (2020) 181 [arXiv:2003.03227] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.M. Campbell, G. De Laurentis and R.K. Ellis, Analytic amplitudes for a pair of Higgs bosons in association with three partons, arXiv:2408.12686 [INSPIRE].
- [14] G. Heinrich et al., NLO predictions for Higgs boson pair production with full top quark mass dependence matched to parton showers, JHEP 08 (2017) 088 [arXiv:1703.09252] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Jones and S. Kuttimalai, Parton Shower and NLO-Matching uncertainties in Higgs Boson Pair Production, JHEP 02 (2018) 176 [arXiv:1711.03319] [INSPIRE].
- [16] G. Heinrich et al., Probing the trilinear Higgs boson coupling in di-Higgs production at NLO QCD including parton shower effects, JHEP 06 (2019) 066 [arXiv:1903.08137] [INSPIRE].
- [17] E. Bagnaschi, G. Degrassi and R. Gröber, Higgs boson pair production at NLO in the POWHEG approach and the top quark mass uncertainties, Eur. Phys. J. C 83 (2023) 1054
   [arXiv:2309.10525] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G. Heinrich, S.P. Jones, M. Kerner and L. Scyboz, A non-linear EFT description of  $gg \rightarrow HH$ at NLO interfaced to POWHEG, JHEP 10 (2020) 021 [arXiv:2006.16877] [INSPIRE].

- [19] G. Heinrich, J. Lang and L. Scyboz, SMEFT predictions for gg → hh at full NLO QCD and truncation uncertainties, JHEP 08 (2022) 079 [Erratum ibid. 10 (2023) 086]
   [arXiv:2204.13045] [INSPIRE].
- [20] G. Heinrich and J. Lang, Combining chromomagnetic and four-fermion operators with leading SMEFT operators for gg → hh at NLO QCD, JHEP 05 (2024) 121 [arXiv:2311.15004] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. De Florian and J. Mazzitelli, Soft gluon resummation for Higgs boson pair production including finite  $M_t$  effects, JHEP **08** (2018) 156 [arXiv:1807.03704] [INSPIRE].
- [22] D. de Florian et al., Differential Higgs Boson Pair Production at Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order in QCD, JHEP 09 (2016) 151 [arXiv:1606.09519] [INSPIRE].
- [23] J. Grigo, J. Hoff and M. Steinhauser, Higgs boson pair production: top quark mass effects at NLO and NNLO, Nucl. Phys. B 900 (2015) 412 [arXiv:1508.00909] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J. Davies, F. Herren, G. Mishima and M. Steinhauser, Real corrections to Higgs boson pair production at NNLO in the large top quark mass limit, JHEP 01 (2022) 049 [arXiv:2110.03697] [INSPIRE].
- [25] J. Davies, K. Schönwald and M. Steinhauser, Towards gg → HH at next-to-next-to-leading order: Light-fermionic three-loop corrections, Phys. Lett. B 845 (2023) 138146
   [arXiv:2307.04796] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Davies, K. Schönwald, M. Steinhauser and M. Vitti, Three-loop corrections to Higgs boson pair production: reducible contribution, JHEP 08 (2024) 096 [arXiv:2405.20372] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M. Grazzini et al., Higgs boson pair production at NNLO with top quark mass effects, JHEP 05 (2018) 059 [arXiv:1803.02463] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L.-B. Chen, H.T. Li, H.-S. Shao and J. Wang, Higgs boson pair production via gluon fusion at N<sup>3</sup>LO in QCD, Phys. Lett. B 803 (2020) 135292 [arXiv:1909.06808] [INSPIRE].
- [29] L.-B. Chen, H.T. Li, H.-S. Shao and J. Wang, The gluon-fusion production of Higgs boson pair: N<sup>3</sup>LO QCD corrections and top-quark mass effects, JHEP 03 (2020) 072 [arXiv:1912.13001]
   [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. A H and H.-S. Shao, N<sup>3</sup>LO+N<sup>3</sup>LL QCD improved Higgs pair cross sections, JHEP 02 (2023) 067 [arXiv:2209.03914] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Baglio et al.,  $gg \rightarrow HH$ : Combined uncertainties, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 056002 [arXiv:2008.11626] [INSPIRE].
- [32] U. Aglietti, R. Bonciani, G. Degrassi and A. Vicini, Two loop light fermion contribution to Higgs production and decays, Phys. Lett. B 595 (2004) 432 [hep-ph/0404071] [INSPIRE].
- [33] G. Degrassi and F. Maltoni, Two-loop electroweak corrections to Higgs production at hadron colliders, Phys. Lett. B 600 (2004) 255 [hep-ph/0407249] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Actis, G. Passarino, C. Sturm and S. Uccirati, NLO Electroweak Corrections to Higgs Boson Production at Hadron Colliders, Phys. Lett. B 670 (2008) 12 [arXiv:0809.1301] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S. Borowka et al., Probing the scalar potential via double Higgs boson production at hadron colliders, JHEP 04 (2019) 016 [arXiv:1811.12366] [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Mühlleitner, J. Schlenk and M. Spira, Top-Yukawa-induced corrections to Higgs pair production, JHEP 10 (2022) 185 [arXiv:2207.02524] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Davies et al., Higgs boson contribution to the leading two-loop Yukawa corrections to  $gg \rightarrow HH$ , JHEP **08** (2022) 259 [arXiv:2207.02587] [INSPIRE].

- [38] J. Davies, K. Schönwald, M. Steinhauser and H. Zhang, Next-to-leading order electroweak corrections to  $gg \rightarrow HH$  and  $gg \rightarrow gH$  in the large- $m_t$  limit, JHEP **10** (2023) 033 [arXiv:2308.01355] [INSPIRE].
- [39] W. Bizoń, U. Haisch and L. Rottoli, Constraints on the quartic Higgs self-coupling from double-Higgs production at future hadron colliders, JHEP 02 (2019) 170 [Addendum ibid. 02 (2024) 170] [arXiv:1810.04665] [INSPIRE].
- [40] W. Bizoń et al., Addendum to: Constraints on the quartic Higgs self-coupling from double-Higgs production at future hadron colliders, JHEP 02 (2024) 170 [arXiv:2402.03463] [INSPIRE].
- [41] H.-Y. Bi et al., Electroweak Corrections to Double Higgs Production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 132 (2024) 231802 [arXiv:2311.16963] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. Anastasiou, R. Boughezal and F. Petriello, Mixed QCD-electroweak corrections to Higgs boson production in gluon fusion, JHEP 04 (2009) 003 [arXiv:0811.3458] [INSPIRE].
- [43] M. Bonetti, K. Melnikov and L. Tancredi, Two-loop electroweak corrections to Higgs-gluon couplings to higher orders in the dimensional regularization parameter, Nucl. Phys. B 916 (2017) 709 [arXiv:1610.05497] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Bonetti, K. Melnikov and L. Tancredi, Three-loop mixed QCD-electroweak corrections to Higgs boson gluon fusion, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 034004 [arXiv:1711.11113] [INSPIRE].
- [45] C. Anastasiou et al., Mixed QCD-electroweak corrections to Higgs production via gluon fusion in the small mass approximation, JHEP 03 (2019) 162 [arXiv:1811.11211] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M. Bonetti, K. Melnikov and L. Tancredi, Higher order corrections to mixed QCD-EW contributions to Higgs boson production in gluon fusion, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 056017 [Erratum ibid. 97 (2018) 099906] [arXiv:1801.10403] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Bonetti, E. Panzer, V.A. Smirnov and L. Tancredi, Two-loop mixed QCD-EW corrections to  $gg \rightarrow Hg$ , JHEP 11 (2020) 045 [arXiv:2007.09813] [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Becchetti et al., Next-to-leading order corrections to light-quark mixed QCD-EW contributions to Higgs boson production, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 054037 [arXiv:2010.09451] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Bonetti, E. Panzer and L. Tancredi, Two-loop mixed QCD-EW corrections to  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow Hg$ ,  $qg \rightarrow Hq$ , and  $\bar{q}g \rightarrow H\bar{q}$ , JHEP 06 (2022) 115 [arXiv:2203.17202] [INSPIRE].
- [50] S. Borowka et al., pySecDec: a toolbox for the numerical evaluation of multi-scale integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 222 (2018) 313 [arXiv:1703.09692] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Borowka et al., A GPU compatible quasi-Monte Carlo integrator interfaced to pySecDec, Comput. Phys. Commun. 240 (2019) 120 [arXiv:1811.11720] [INSPIRE].
- [52] G. Heinrich et al., Expansion by regions with pySecDec, Comput. Phys. Commun. 273 (2022) 108267 [arXiv:2108.10807] [INSPIRE].
- [53] G. Heinrich et al., Numerical scattering amplitudes with pySecDec, Comput. Phys. Commun. 295 (2024) 108956 [arXiv:2305.19768] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Hidding, DiffExp, a Mathematica package for computing Feynman integrals in terms of one-dimensional series expansions, Comput. Phys. Commun. 269 (2021) 108125
   [arXiv:2006.05510] [INSPIRE].
- [55] F. Moriello, Generalised power series expansions for the elliptic planar families of Higgs + jet production at two loops, JHEP 01 (2020) 150 [arXiv:1907.13234] [INSPIRE].

- [56] A. Denner, Techniques for calculation of electroweak radiative corrections at the one loop level and results for W physics at LEP-200, Fortsch. Phys. 41 (1993) 307 [arXiv:0709.1075]
   [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Denner and S. Dittmaier, *Electroweak Radiative Corrections for Collider Physics*, *Phys. Rept.* 864 (2020) 1 [arXiv:1912.06823] [INSPIRE].
- [58] J.C. Romao and J.P. Silva, A resource for signs and Feynman diagrams of the Standard Model, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1230025 [arXiv:1209.6213] [INSPIRE].
- [59] A. Biekötter, B.D. Pecjak, D.J. Scott and T. Smith, *Electroweak input schemes and universal corrections in SMEFT*, JHEP 07 (2023) 115 [arXiv:2305.03763] [INSPIRE].
- [60] P. Nogueira, Automatic Feynman Graph Generation, J. Comput. Phys. 105 (1993) 279 [INSPIRE].
- [61] V. Magerya, Amplitude library (ALIBRARY): gluing all the tools needed for computing multi-loop amplitudes in QCD and beyond, https://github.com/magy/alibrary.
- [62] J. Kuipers, T. Ueda and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Code Optimization in FORM, Comput. Phys. Commun. 189 (2015) 1 [arXiv:1310.7007] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. von Manteuffel and C. Studerus, *Reduze 2 Distributed Feynman Integral Reduction*, arXiv:1201.4330 [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Degrassi, P.P. Giardino, F. Maltoni and D. Pagani, Probing the Higgs self coupling via single Higgs production at the LHC, JHEP 12 (2016) 080 [arXiv:1607.04251] [INSPIRE].
- [65] V. Magerya, Feynson: finding symmetries between families of Feynman integrals, https://github.com/magv/feynson.
- [66] K.G. Chetyrkin and F.V. Tkachov, Integration by parts: The algorithm to calculate  $\beta$ -functions in 4 loops, Nucl. Phys. B **192** (1981) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. von Manteuffel, E. Panzer and R.M. Schabinger, A quasi-finite basis for multi-loop Feynman integrals, JHEP 02 (2015) 120 [arXiv:1411.7392] [INSPIRE].
- [68] A.V. Smirnov and V.A. Smirnov, How to choose master integrals, Nucl. Phys. B 960 (2020) 115213 [arXiv:2002.08042] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Usovitsch, Factorization of denominators in integration-by-parts reductions, arXiv:2002.08173 [INSPIRE].
- [70] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and D.A. Kosower, Dimensionally regulated one loop integrals, Phys. Lett. B 302 (1993) 299 [Erratum ibid. 318 (1993) 649] [hep-ph/9212308] [INSPIRE].
- [71] O.V. Tarasov, Connection between Feynman integrals having different values of the space-time dimension, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 6479 [hep-th/9606018] [INSPIRE].
- [72] R.N. Lee, Space-time dimensionality D as complex variable: Calculating loop integrals using dimensional recurrence relation and analytical properties with respect to D, Nucl. Phys. B 830 (2010) 474 [arXiv:0911.0252] [INSPIRE].
- [73] P. Maierhöfer, J. Usovitsch and P. Uwer, Kira A Feynman integral reduction program, Comput. Phys. Commun. 230 (2018) 99 [arXiv:1705.05610] [INSPIRE].
- [74] J. Klappert, F. Lange, P. Maierhöfer and J. Usovitsch, Integral reduction with Kira 2.0 and finite field methods, Comput. Phys. Commun. 266 (2021) 108024 [arXiv:2008.06494] [INSPIRE].
- [75] V. Magerya, Rational Tracer: a Tool for Faster Rational Function Reconstruction, arXiv:2211.03572 [INSPIRE].

- [76] J. Klappert and F. Lange, Reconstructing rational functions with FireFly, Comput. Phys. Commun. 247 (2020) 106951 [arXiv:1904.00009] [INSPIRE].
- [77] J. Klappert, S.Y. Klein and F. Lange, Interpolation of dense and sparse rational functions and other improvements in FireFly, Comput. Phys. Commun. 264 (2021) 107968
   [arXiv:2004.01463] [INSPIRE].
- [78] J. Fleischer and F. Jegerlehner, Radiative Corrections to Higgs Decays in the Extended Weinberg-Salam Model, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 2001 [INSPIRE].
- [79] F. Maltoni, D. Pagani and X. Zhao, Constraining the Higgs self-couplings at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders, JHEP 07 (2018) 087 [arXiv:1802.07616] [INSPIRE].
- [80] PDF4LHC WORKING GROUP collaboration, The PDF4LHC21 combination of global PDF fits for the LHC Run III, J. Phys. G 49 (2022) 080501 [arXiv:2203.05506] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A. Buckley et al., LHAPDF6: parton density access in the LHC precision era, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 132 [arXiv:1412.7420] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Denner, L. Jenniches, J.-N. Lang and C. Sturm, Gauge-independent MS renormalization in the 2HDM, JHEP 09 (2016) 115 [arXiv:1607.07352] [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier and J.-N. Lang, Renormalization of mixing angles, JHEP 11 (2018) 104 [arXiv:1808.03466] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Actis, A. Ferroglia, M. Passera and G. Passarino, Two-Loop Renormalization in the Standard Model. Part I: Prolegomena, Nucl. Phys. B 777 (2007) 1 [hep-ph/0612122] [INSPIRE].
- [85] M. Krause et al., Gauge-independent Renormalization of the 2-Higgs-Doublet Model, JHEP 09 (2016) 143 [arXiv:1605.04853] [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. Dittmaier and H. Rzehak, Electroweak renormalization based on gauge-invariant vacuum expectation values of non-linear Higgs representations. Part I. Standard Model, JHEP 05 (2022) 125 [arXiv:2203.07236] [INSPIRE].
- [87] M. Hidding and J. Usovitsch, Feynman parameter integration through differential equations, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 036024 [arXiv:2206.14790] [INSPIRE].